UNIVERSITY OF OKLAHOMA

GRADUATE COLLEGE

FAMILY STRUCTURE, PARENTING PRACTICES, AND SELF-CONTROL

A DISSERTATION

SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE FACULTY

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the

Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

By

JAMES MICHAEL MOUSER Norman, Oklahoma 2016

FAMILY STRUCTURE, PARENTING PRACTICES, AND SELF-CONTROL

A DISSERTATION APPROVED FOR THE DEPARTMENT OF SOCIOLOGY

 $\mathbf{B}\mathbf{Y}$

Dr. Trina L. Hope, Chair

Dr. R. Warren Metcalf

Dr. Ann M. Beutel

Dr. Loretta E. Bass

Dr. Susan F. Sharp

© Copyright by JAMES MICHAEL MOUSER 2016 All Rights Reserved.

Acknowledgements

This dissertation would not have been possible without the support and guidance of my doctoral committee: Dr. Trina Hope, Dr. Warren Metcalf, Dr. Ann Beutel, Dr. Loretta Bass, and Dr. Susan Sharp. Their encouragement and expert input were invaluable. I am deeply appreciative of the time and effort these individuals invested not only during the dissertation process, but throughout my tenure in graduate school. I am especially indebted to Dr. Hope, who went above and beyond the call of duty as my committee chair. I would also like to thank all of the other professors in the OU Department of Sociology who have imparted their knowledge over the years.

I could not have finished this project without Meredith, my incredibly supportive wife. She was an unwavering source of motivation when I needed it most. I know how much it meant to Meredith for both of us to finish this journey through graduate school. I look forward to reading her soon-to-be-completed dissertation.

Finally, I would be remiss if I did not thank Rafi, my rambunctious alarm clock. His steadfast refusal to let me sleep late on weekends gave me many additional hours of writing time.

Table of Contents

| Chapter 1: Introduction | 1 |
|---|-----|
| Chapter 2: Self-Control Theory | 4 |
| Chapter 3: Parenting Practices and Self-Control | 6 |
| Chapter 4: Family Structure | 26 |
| Chapter 5: Hypotheses | 39 |
| Chapter 6: Methodology | 40 |
| Chapter 7: Results | 56 |
| Chapter 8: Discussion and Conclusion | 72 |
| References | 90 |
| Appendix: Tables | 101 |

List of Tables

| Table 1: Summary of Control Variables | 101 |
|---|-----|
| Table 2: Family Structure Variables | 102 |
| Table 3: Family Process Variables | 103 |
| Table 4: Self-Control Scale Items | 104 |
| Table 5: One-Way ANOVA: Family Processes and Self-Control | |
| by Household Structure | 105 |
| Table 6: Tukey's HSD: Pairwise Comparison of Family Processes | |
| and Self-Control by Household Structure | 106 |
| Table 7: T-Tests: Family Processes and Self-Control by Gender | 108 |
| Table 8: Self-Control Regressed on Household Structure | |
| and Family Processes | 109 |
| Table 9: Self-Control Regressed on Household Structure | |
| and Family Processes, Biological Father Households | 111 |
| Table 10: Self-Control Regressed on Household Structure | |
| and Family Processes, Social Father Households | 113 |
| Table 11: Self-Control Regressed on Household Structure | |
| and Family Processes, Single-Mother Households | 115 |

Abstract

Gottfredson and Hirschi's general theory of crime posits that low self-control is the primary cause of crime and other negative outcomes, including relationship and employment instability, inability to meet financial obligations, and risk of accidents and illness. According to self-control theory, inadequate parenting in early childhood is the primary cause of low self-control. Meanwhile, children in non-traditional family structures continue to experience worse outcomes than children who live with married biological parents. This trend persists as Americans become more likely to spend all or part of their childhoods outside this "traditional" household structure.

The current study examines the extent to which the parenting model of selfcontrol theory explains differences in children's self-control by household structure. In particular, this study assesses whether parenting practices and self-control differ by household structure, including comparisons of married and cohabiting biological and social fathers as well as single mothers. In addition, the study also evaluates the extent to which Gottfredson and Hirschi's parenting model accounts for differences in selfcontrol by gender among a sample of 9-year-old children.

The results provide partial support for self-control theory's parenting model, with children from married biological parent households possessing higher levels of self-control and experiencing better parenting than their peers; however, the self-control gap by household type is not fully explained by parenting practices. This study also uncovers evidence that the gender gap in self-control may vary by household structure.

vii

Chapter 1: Introduction

With the publication of A General Theory of Crime (1990), Gottfredson and Hirschi's self-control theory emerged as one of the predominant explanations of crime. While most early studies of the theory tested its central argument—that low self-control is the primary individual-level cause of crime-criminologists have devoted more attention to other aspects of the theory within the last decade. This includes Gottfredson and Hirschi's assertion that low self-control is the product of ineffective parenting, which includes a failure on the part of parents to monitor, recognize, and punish deviant acts. Low self-control has consequences aside from a greater likelihood to engage in criminal behavior, to such an extent that Gottfredson and Hirschi (1990:94) indicate that crime is "often among the least serious consequences of a lack of self-control" with respect to quality of life. Some of these consequences include involvement in "accidents, illness, and death at higher rates;" "difficulty persisting in a job;" "difficulty acquiring and retaining friends;" "difficulty meeting the demands of long-term financial commitments (such as mortgages or car payments) and the demands of parenting" (Gottfredson and Hirschi 1990:94). Thus, the concept of self-control has broad applicability beyond the study of crime.

Meanwhile, family scholars have dedicated much attention to family structure trends and their impact on children from various types of households. Despite the increasingly normative nature of single-parent and blended families in the United States, children from such households continue to be at significant disadvantage relative to their counterparts from intact families. Children from divorced families are more likely to have behavioral problems, to show signs of psychological maladjustment, and

to have lower academic achievement and self-esteem (Clarke-Stewart and Brentano 2006). Furthermore, remarriage does not improve the well-being of children whose parents have divorced, as children in reconstituted families fare no better than ones in single-parent families (Cherlin 2010).

Using data on 9-year-old children and their families from the Fragile Families and Child Wellbeing Study, this dissertation attempts to link the aforementioned fields of research in criminology and sociology of family by answering several questions regarding the role of family structure in the development of self-control. Do parenting practices vary by household structure? Does children's self-control vary by household structure? If self-control varies by household structure, do differences in parenting practices fully explain this disparity in self-control? Furthermore, do girls have higher self-control than boys due to differences in parenting practices? These questions are explored for several types of households—those with married and cohabiting biological fathers, married and cohabiting social fathers (mother's romantic partner who resides in the same household as the child), and no fathers (single-mother households)—to examine and explain how and why household structure plays such a crucial role in children's outcomes.

Chapters 2-4 provide an overview of the existing research literature. Chapter 2 summarizes self-control theory and its widespread applicability. Chapter 3 presents detailed explanations of every aspect of Gottfredson and Hirschi's parenting model. This chapter also contains a review of the research literature corresponding to each component of this parenting model, including gender-related differences in parenting and self-control. Chapter 4 summarizes family formation trends in the United States and

examines how parenting practices and children's outcomes differ by household structure, according to family scholars. The extensive review of the research literature in Chapters 2-4 sets the foundation for the hypotheses presented in Chapter 5.

Chapter 6 details the methodology of the current study, including the sample, operationalization of variables, and statistical procedures. Chapter 7 presents the results of the current study. Chapter 8 includes a discussion of these results, including policy implications and future research directions.

Chapter 2: Self-Control Theory

In *A General Theory of Crime*, Gottfredson and Hirschi (1990: 232) declared low self-control to be "for all intents and purposes, *the* individual-level cause of crime." They rejected alternative explanations of crime, arguing that links between delinquency and other factors—such as delinquent peers, poor school performance, and unemployment—were spuriously related via the confounding variable of self-control. Given its simplicity, purportedly widespread applicability, and authors' bold claims, self-control theory invited intense research scrutiny almost immediately upon the book's publication, making *A General Theory of Crime* the most frequently cited criminology and criminal justice book in the 1990s and 2000s (Cohn and Farrington 1999; Cohn and Farrington 2008; Cohn and Farrington 2012).

In establishing their explanation for crime, Gottfredson and Hirschi (1990: 89-90) first outlined the characteristics of crime. They argued that criminal acts provide immediate and simple gratification of desires while providing few long-term benefits. Crimes are also exciting and risky while requiring little skill or planning. Furthermore, crimes usually result in pain or discomfort for the victim. Based upon this understanding of crime, Gottfredson and Hirschi (1990) then described the type of individuals that are more likely to engage in such behavior.

Gottfredson and Hirschi initially defined self-control as the "differential tendency of people to avoid criminal acts whatever the circumstances in which they find themselves" (p. 87). Hirschi (2004:543) later redefined self-control as the "tendency to consider the full range of potential costs of a particular act." Gottfredson and Hirschi (1990) describe several components of low self-control: 1) impulsivity, 2) lack of

diligence, tenacity, or persistence, 3) desire to take risks, 4) short-sightedness, 5) not possessing or valuing cognitive skills, and 6) self-centeredness and indifference or insensitivity to the suffering and needs of others. These traits may be identified at an early age and differences between individuals tend to persist throughout the life-course. Individuals who possess these characteristics of low self-control are more likely to engage in crime and analogous behaviors—acts that may not be criminal, but are similar in that they provide immediate gratification at the expense of negative long-term consequences (i.e., smoking, alcohol use).

Consistent with Gottfredson and Hirschi's claims, self-control has proven to be a consistent predictor of various criminal acts (Evans et al. 1997; Grasmick et al. 1993; Longshore et al. 2004; Longshore et al. 2005; Nagin and Paternoster 1993; Piquero et al. 2005). Likewise, research has linked low self-control to numerous types of analogous behaviors, including alcohol and substance abuse (Allahverdipour et al. 2006; Baron 2003; Piquero et al. 2002), risky sexual behavior (Love 2006), early sexual activity among adolescents (Hope and Chapple 2005), gambling (Arneklev et al. 1993), and texting while driving (Quisenberry 2015), buttressing Gottfredson and Hirschi's argument that the consequences of low self-control as a predictor of crime and analogous behaviors had been established thoroughly by such studies, researchers shifted much of their focus away from the outcomes of self-control and toward other aspects of the theory, including the origin of self-control.

Chapter 3: Parenting Practices and Self-Control

Following a multitude of studies that tested self-control theory's core proposition—that self-control is the primary individual-level cause of crime—in the decade after the publication of *A General Theory of Crime* (1990), researchers began to investigate other aspects of the theory. One such aspect is the parenting mechanism through which self-control is acquired.

Gottfredson and Hirschi (1990) identify "ineffective child-rearing" as "the major 'cause' of low self-control." They identify the "minimum conditions" necessary to teach the child self-control: "someone must (1) monitor the child's behavior; (2) recognize deviant behavior when it occurs; and (3) punish such behavior" (Gottfredson and Hirschi 1990: 97). In addition, "all that is required to activate the system is affection for *or* investment in the child," as Gottfredson and Hirschi (p. 97) argue that "the person who cares for the child will watch his behavior, see him doing things he should not do, and correct him." This results in a child capable of exercising self-control—that is, " a child more capable of delaying gratification, more sensitive to the interests and desires of others, more independent, more willing to accept restraints on his activity, and more unlikely to use force or violence to attain his ends" (p. 97).

Parallel to the necessary conditions for instilling self-control, Gottfredson and Hirschi state that the model can fail at one of four places: 1) parents may not care for the child; 2) parents may not have the time or energy to monitor the child; 3) parents may not see anything wrong with the child's behavior; 4) parents may not have "the inclination or means to punish the child" (p. 97). As Gottfredson and Hirschi succinctly argue, "Many things can go wrong" (p. 98).

A growing—yet still relatively limited—body of literature has examined the various components of this child-rearing model. These studies lend varying degrees of support for each aspect of Gottfredson and Hirschi's child-rearing model, along with modest support for the model as a whole.

Supervision and Self-Control

Gottfredson and Hirschi (1990) use the concept of parental supervision to illustrate the connection between social control and self-control: such supervision "prevents criminal or analogous acts" (social control) and simultaneously "trains the child to avoid them on his own" (self-control). It is the latter concept — "supervision as internal control"—on which Gottfredson and Hirschi place their primary focus. They cite "the stronger tendency of those poorly supervised when young to commit crimes as adults" as evidence of the connection between supervision and self-control (p. 99); in other words, self-control is the missing link between poor supervision in childhood and misbehavior in adulthood.

In addition, Hirschi and Gottfredson (2005) state that when parents devote more attention to their children, they "reduce if not obviate the need for explicit punishment." In other words, "the greater the supervision, the less the punishment required" (p. 221). Neglect is "the principal cause of punishment, especially excessive punishment" and "the primary source of violence by the parent and of misbehavior by the child" (p. 221).

Parental supervision has been the most heavily tested aspect of Gottfredson and Hirschi's model. Numerous studies—ranging from those employing large national data sets in the United States and abroad to ones with smaller samples—have consistently

established a significant positive relationship between parental monitoring and selfcontrol (Beaver 2011; Brauer et al. 2012; Chapple et al. 2005; Gibson et al. 2010; Hay 2001; Hope and Chapple 2005; Hope et al. 2003; McKee 2012; Meldrum 2008; Moon et al. 2014; Nofziger 2008; Pratt et al. 2004; Simons et al. 2007; Unnever et al. 2003; Unnever et al. 2006; Vazsonyi and Belliston 2007).

Several studies have employed National Longitudinal Survey of Adolescent Health (Add Health) data to examine the relationship between parental supervision and self-control, given the availability of proximate indicators of supervision in Add Health data sets. These questions range from items that ask children about the decisions they are allowed to make on their own (e.g., how much television they watch, what they watch on television, with whom they spend free time, the time they must be home on weekend nights) to items that gauge the extent to which parents are aware of their children's friends (e.g., whether the parent has met the child's best friend and best friend's parents, whether the parent knows which school the child's best friend attends). Supervision scales consisting of several of these Add Health items have produced mixed results. Beaver (2011: 96) found that low self-control "maintained a negative and statistically significant association with parental supervision" among a sample of twin siblings; in other words, among twin siblings, the one who reported less parental supervision also had lower levels of self-control. Conversely, Wright et al. (2008) failed to find a significant relationship between supervision and self-control among twin siblings in two waves of Add Health data. Likewise, in Boisvert et al.'s (2012) study of opposite-sex sibling pairs, differences in parental monitoring did not explain differences in self-control.

Researchers employing National Longitudinal Survey of Youth (NLSY) data have consistently found support for the relationship between parental supervision and self-control, regardless of whether parental supervision is measured via parents' responses (e.g., how many of their children's friends they know by sight and name, how often they know who their children are with when their children are not at home), children's responses (e.g., how often they tell their parents where they are and who they are with when the children are not at home), or a combination of parents' and children's responses. For example, Pratt et al. (2004) found that maternal supervision-based on mothers' responses—was a significant predictor of self-control at both ages 10 and 12, with poor maternal supervision being associated with lower self-control. Nofziger (2008) also employed maternal responses to measure the extent to which parents monitor their children's television viewing and the frequency to which their children are expected to perform various chores (e.g., cleaning his/her own room, making his/her own bed). Both parental expectations and monitoring television were significant positive predictors of child's self-control, supporting the hypothesis that "children are more likely to develop self-control when parents supervise their activities" (pp. 212-213). Meanwhile, Chapple et al. (2005) and Hope and Chapple (2005) measured parental monitoring via children's responses but reached a similar conclusion: parental monitoring was a significant predictor of self-control, as respondents with higher levels of parental monitoring possessed higher levels of self-control.

Hope et al. (2003) found that junior high and high school students whose parents were more aware of their dating partners and their whereabouts away from home had significantly higher levels of self-control, to such an extent that it fully mediated the

effect of the variable "single-parent home," which had been a direct predictor of lower levels of self-control before supervision was incorporated into the model. Likewise, other studies (Unnever et al. 2003; Unnever et al. 2006; Simons et al. 2007) have revealed a significant positive relationship between parental awareness of children's whereabouts when the children are away from home and children's levels of selfcontrol.

Parental supervision remains a significant predictor of self-control even after controlling for a host of other factors. For example, Gibson et al. (2010)—using a sample of 2,003 children (ages 7 to 16) from the Project on Human Development in Chicago Neighborhoods (PHDCN)—found that parental supervision retained a significant positive effect on children's self-control, even after accounting for various neighborhood-level (e.g., concentrated disadvantage, residential stability, collective efficacy) and individual-level variables (e.g., primary caregiver's marital and employment statuses, socioeconomic status, parental warmth, parental hostility). This substantiates Gottfredson and Hirschi's argument regarding the primary role of parental supervision in the cultivation of self-control, regardless of the child's larger social environment.

Recognition of Deviant Behavior and Self-Control

Parental recognition of deviant behavior is not a given: "Remarkably, not all parents are adept at recognizing lack of self-control" (Gottfredson and Hirschi 1990:99). Gottfredson and Hirschi state that some parents allow a child to "do pretty much as he pleases without interference." They cite "extensive television-viewing" as an example of "poor conduct standards," along with "failure to require completion of homework, to prohibit smoking, to curtail the use of physical force, or to see to it that the child actually attends school" (p. 99). In spite of these examples, as well as Gottfredson and Hirschi's assertion that "the research is not as good as it should be" (p.99) in examining this concept, recognition of deviant behavior has rarely been included in tests of Gottfredson and Hirschi's parenting model.

Several studies have incorporated measures of recognition, but such items are almost exclusively subsumed into a parental monitoring scale (Cochran et al. 1998; Phythian et al. 2008) or a more general parenting measure (Brauer et al. 2012; McCartan and Gunnison 2007), rather than treating recognition of deviant behavior as a standalone variable. Hay (2001:715) acknowledged the absence of such a measure in his research, dismissing it as a "limiting but still acceptable omission" on the grounds that previous research had "consistently identified monitoring and discipline as the two key aspects of effective parenting." Unnever et al. (2003) also noted the absence of this dimension of parenting in their own research, while citing Hay's (2001) omission and explanation as justification.

Consequently, Latimore et al.'s (2006) inclusion of recognition of misbehavior as a separate variable represents a rarity in the research literature. They measured recognition of misbehavior with a single item: "Generally, when I was growing up my parents or guardians recognized when I had done something wrong" (p. 351). Respondents were asked to indicate their level of agreement/disagreement on a fourpoint scale (mean = 3.60), with higher values corresponding to higher levels of recognition. Consistent with Gottfredson and Hirschi's caregiving model, recognition of

misbehavior was a significant positive predictor of both cognitively and behaviorally measured self-control. Conversely, recognition of misbehavior did not predict selfcontrol among Moon et al.'s (2014) sample of South Korean middle-school students.

Wright and Beaver's (2005: 1180) examination of the factors contributing to self-control among young children from the Early Childhood Longitudinal Study, Kindergarten Class of 1998-1999 (ECLS-K) included a "family rules" measure composed of three items regarding television viewing: if there were rules for which television programs the child could watch, the amount of hours the child was permitted to watch television, and if rules were in place for how late or early the child was allowed to watch television. This family rules variable was a significant predictor of self-control at first grade in an Ordinary Least Squares (OLS) regression model but nonsignificant in a Hierarchical Linear Modeling (HLM) model. Although Wright and Beaver (2005) did not explicitly tie this family rules measure into Gottfredson and Hirschi's notion of recognition of misbehavior, it is consistent with the concept, given that Gottfredson and Hirschi cited unabated television-viewing as a specific example of failure to recognize deviant behavior. Hence, Wright and Beaver's (2005) research not only lends mixed support to the relationship between recognition of misbehavior and self-control, but also inadvertently highlights the dearth of research that both acknowledges and measures the concept of recognition of misbehavior.

Discipline and Self-Control

Gottfredson and Hirschi's (1990) failure to define explicitly what constitutes effective discipline has contributed to divergence in the operationalization of this

concept. They provide some general guidelines for the concept. First, they state that "disapproval by people one cares about is the most powerful of sanctions;" therefore, effective punishment usually involves "nothing more than explicit disapproval of unwanted behavior" (p. 99-100). In addition, they note that not all caretakers punish effectively, as "some are too harsh and some are too lenient" (p. 100-101); the former was partly clarified, as they described "yelling and screaming, slapping and hitting" as examples of insensitive and ineffective punishment. Furthermore, rewards for good behavior cannot compensate for failure to correct misbehavior.

More recently, Hirschi and Gottfredson (2005) have argued that the mutual affection between caregiver and child places "strict limits on the severity and nature of punishments available" since "excessive punishments would destroy the relationship." This makes corporal punishment "risky," as it "may sometimes exceed the tolerance level of the child and destroy attachment to its source" (p. 220). They also acknowledge the difficulty of disaggregating "care, monitoring and punishment," recognizing that these distinctions are "analytic" and "hard to separate from one another" (p. 221). In particular, care of children "implies supervision and discipline as much as it implies affection," and quality of supervision is usually measured "as much by the imposition of rules or discipline as by parental awareness of the child's whereabouts or behavior" (p. 221-222). Thus, when care and supervision are "subtracted from punishment," the actual techniques of discipline "may not be particularly important in and of themselves" (p. 222). Techniques such as yelling, nagging, scolding, shaking, slapping, or crying "virtually presuppose the failure of supervision" and "put at risk the affectional relation

between the parent and the child" (p. 222). Hence, severe punishment is likely to reflect a "breakdown or absence of intimate caretaker-child relationships" (p. 222).

Given the vague nature of Gottfredson and Hirschi's description of punishment, it has been left to the discretion of other researchers to distinguish appropriate techniques from ineffective disciplinary methods. If one juxtaposes Gottfredson and Hirschi's (1990:100) argument that effective punishment usually involves little more than "explicit disapproval" with their assertion that some parents are "too lenient" in punishing, it appears that simply expressing disapproval is not enough; however, it is unclear what types of punishment clear the leniency threshold. For example, it is ambiguous whether simply talking with the child would fall into the category of "too lenient." Thus, researchers have inherited the responsibility of determining what constitutes effective discipline in order to analyze the relationship between discipline and self-control. Despite varying interpretations and measures of discipline, these studies provide a clearer distinction of effective versus ineffective punishment.

Several studies have evaluated the relationship between physical punishment and self-control. For example, Nofziger (2008) found that children who were spanked at ages 6-7 had lower self-control at ages 10-11. Likewise, Chapple and Johnson's (2007) research revealed that the sons of mothers who used "non-positive discipline" (spanking or ignoring the child) were more impulsive. Furthermore, when adolescents were presented with the question of how their parents would react if the respondents did something their parents strongly disliked, Hay (2001) discovered that teens who anticipated physical discipline (slapping, hitting, kicking, pushing, grabbing, or shoving) possessed significantly lower levels of self-control.

Not all studies have found a significant negative relationship between physical punishment and self-control. Wright and Beaver (2005) measured physical punishment via responses to a hypothetical scenario item, asking parents what they would do if their children were to hit them. Contrary to expectations, there was no significant relationship between parents' willingness to hit or spank and their young children's self-control. On the other hand, Bennett et al.'s (2005) analysis of different items within the same ECLS-K (Early Childhood Longitudinal Study, Kindergarten) data set found that high frequency of spanking was a significant predictor of lower self-control. Likewise, another ECLS-K study found that physical punishment significantly increased the likelihood of a child belonging to a "severely impaired" subgroup—that is, children with the lowest levels of self-control and the highest levels of impulsivity (Vaughn et al. 2009).

Conversely, research indicates that simply talking with a misbehaving child has a significant positive effect on self-control (Perrone et al. 2004; Nofziger 2008). Research also suggests that a combination of positive discipline techniques—grounding, talking with the child, giving chores, sending the child to his room, taking away allowance and/or TV, sentencing the child to time-out—decreases children's impulsivity.

The consistency of punishment plays an important role in the formation of selfcontrol. Several studies have revealed that children who reported receiving inconsistent punishment from their parents possessed significantly lower levels of self-control (Phythian et al. 2008; Unnever et al. 2003; Unnever et al. 2006). . Furthermore, fair

discipline—as perceived by adolescents—is also positively related to self-control (Hay 2001).

Overall, the research literature reveals several trends in the relationship between discipline and self-control. First, the frequency of punishment matters, as children who are punished consistently for misbehavior develop higher levels of self-control. In addition, the nature of discipline is also important: techniques that are too lenient (i.e., ignoring the child) or too harsh (i.e., spanking) are ineffective, whereas a method as mild as talking with the child has a significant positive effect on self-control. In other words, research should focus on specific types of punishments or corrective actions.

Attachment and Self-Control

Gottfredson and Hirschi's (1990:98) model states that "parental concern for the welfare or behavior of the child is a necessary condition for successful child-rearing." In discussing the significance of this attachment of the parent to the child, Gottfredson and Hirschi acknowledged that the evidence for this was "not as good or extensive as it could be" because it is "too often assumed that all parents are alike in their love for their children" (p. 98). They note Glueck and Glueck's (1950) finding that fathers of non-delinquents were "twice as likely to be warmly disposed toward their sons" and "one-fifth as likely to be hostile toward them," compared to fathers of delinquents; likewise, within the same sample, 28 percent of mothers of delinquents were characterized as "indifferent or hostile" toward their sons, compared to only 4 percent of mothers of non-delinquents. Furthermore, Gottfredson and Hirschi (1990:98) cite Burgess (1980) in arguing that there is evidence suggesting that "stepparents are especially unlikely to

have feelings of affection toward their children," thereby "adding in contemporary society to the likelihood that children will be 'reared' by people who do not especially care for them."

In a more recent discussion of the basic model of child rearing in control theory, Hirschi and Gottfredson (2005) described two types of affection: interest in the outcome and attachment to the caregiver. Interest in the outcome refers to the premise that "the parent, caretaker, or guardian must care enough about the child or the child's behavior to devote the immense amounts of time and energy that monitoring and discipline require" (p. 220). Parents who lack strong interest in the child are "much more likely than others to neglect the child and to resort to inappropriate disciplinary techniques" (p. 222). This concept of parental interest is identical to the aforementioned concept of attachment of the parent to the child; however, the significance of the child's attachment to the caregiver was not addressed by Gottfredson and Hirschi in A General Theory of Crime (1990). Their more recent work identifies attachment of the child to the caregiver as requisite to successful socialization. Just as the caregiver must have interest in the child, the child must have "affection or at least respect for the caregiver" (Hirschi and Gottfredson 2005:220). As mentioned in the previous section on discipline, these mutual affections set boundaries on the severity and nature of punishments, so as not to destroy the relationship between caregiver and child.

To address the shortage of evidence regarding the relationship between parental attachment and self-control, criminological researchers have given more attention to the former concept within the last decade. Consistent with Gottfredson and Hirschi's theory, these studies generally support the notion that attachment of the parent to the

child—whether from the child's or the parent's perspective—is a significant predictor of self-control.

Numerous Add Health studies have tapped into the concept of maternal attachment from the child's perspective, via items that ask "How close do you feel to your mother?" and "How much do you think your mother cares about you?" (Beaver 2008; Beaver 2011; Boisvert et al. 2012; Haynie 2001; Schreck et al. 2004; Wright et al. 2008). Similarly, NLSY studies have examined the relationship between maternal attachment and self-control (Chapple et al. 2005; Chapple and Johnson 2007; Hope and Chapple 2005), with measures of maternal attachment that include asking children how close they feel to their mothers, as well as items gauging the extent to which mothers communicate with children. Maternal attachment has been found to be a significant positive predictor of self-control (Beaver 2011; Boisvert et al. 2012; Chapple et al. 2005; Chapple and Johnson 2007; Hope and Chapple 2005), indirectly contributing to a lower likelihood of adolescent sexual activity (Hope and Chapple 2005) and substance abuse (Chapple et al. 2005).

Less attention has been given to the role of paternal attachment, though in one rare instance, Beaver (2011) found a significant relationship between paternal attachment and self-control. Studies that have combined parental attachment measures—ones incorporating both maternal and paternal attachment—have also yielded results supporting the relationship between parental attachment and self-control. For example, Cochran et al. (1998) found parental attachment had a significant positive effect on self-control, to such an extent that "warm, attentive parental attachments" were more important than "vigilant parental supervision" in the development of self-

control (p. 247). In their examination of the role of the family in self-control theory, Hope et al. (2003) included both a scale measuring the child's attachment to his/her parents as well as a scale tapping parental attachment to the child, with both scales incorporating paternal factors. Both types of attachment were strong predictors of selfcontrol.

The concept of parental attachment has been given less attention than other aspects of Gottfredson and Hirschi's parenting model. In particular, a limited amount of research on self-control theory has accounted for the role of paternal attachment. Nonetheless, these studies provide compelling evidence that parental attachment is indeed a significant predictor of self-control.

Composite Parenting Measures and Self-Control

Many studies on parenting and self-control have not treated monitoring, recognition of misbehavior, discipline, and attachment as separate concepts. Instead, two or more of these concepts are often aggregated into a single parenting measure. Although such an approach does not shed light on the independent effects of each of these parenting aspects on self-control, these studies do allow for a holistic evaluation of Gottfredson and Hirschi's parenting model.

One such example is Gibbs et al.'s (1998) early test of the parenting aspect of Gottfredson and Hirschi's general theory. Using 20 items representing monitoring and 20 items representing discipline to create a 40-item parental management scale, Gibbs et al. (1998) confirmed that parental management during a respondent's freshman year

of a high school was a significant predictor of self-control, with higher levels of parental management corresponding to higher self-control.

Other research that has aggregated these various parenting measures has produced mixed results. Using a three-item parenting scale—one each for the dimensions of monitoring, recognition of misbehavior, and punishment—Morris et al. (2007) found that Gottfredson and Hirschi's parenting model was a significant positive predictor of self-control among White but not American Indian high school students; however, the researchers acknowledged that the lack of parental influence on selfcontrol may have been related to their limited three-item parenting measure.

Brauer et al. (2012) created a "Gottfredson/Hirschi childrearing model" scale encompassing all four of the socialization elements—monitoring, recognition of misbehavior, discipline, and attachment—by combining responses to questions about experiences with childhood caregivers before age eight. Although this parenting measure was a significant positive predictor of self-control for the full sample, Brauer et al. (2012) only found limited overall support for Gottfredson and Hirschi's child-rearing model as the principle source of self-control, as the parenting scale was non-significant for two of the three research site samples (Lviv and rural Ukraine). Brauer et al. (2012: 385) cited the problematic nature of Gottfredson and Hirschi's lack of precision in defining "punishment," especially given previous evidence that physical punishment may have serious negative consequences on children's development. In a supplementary analysis, Brauer et al. (2012) found that higher perceived levels of punishment were associated with lower self-control, while higher levels of parental affection and monitoring were related to elevated levels of self-control. Thus, they

argued that punishment may partially negate the positive effects of affection, monitoring, and recognition of misbehavior in the development of self-control, thereby leading to the relatively weak performance of the composite Gottfredson and Hirschi parenting measure.

The mixed research findings involving aggregated parenting measures highlight the need to evaluate each aspect of the parenting model independently. In particular, Brauer et al.'s (2012) research not only underscores how evaluating each part of Gottfredson and Hirschi's parenting model separately reveals some of the complex dynamics of parenting, but also identifies potential issues in the operationalization of each concept.

Gender, Parenting, and Self-Control

According to Gottfredson and Hirschi (1990), the gender gap in criminal offending—males commit significantly more crime than females—is a result of "crime differences and differences in self-control that are not produced by direct external control" (p. 149). As an illustration of "obvious crime differences" between men and women, Gottfredson and Hirschi (p. 147) cite rape and prostitution as well as "equally obvious" differences in the sanctioning of deviant behavior, due in part to fear of greater negative consequences for the deviance of female children (i.e., unplanned teenage pregnancy). They also argue that gender differences in the use of force and fraud are "established early in life and…persist throughout life," which "implies a substantial self-control difference" between males and females (p. 147).

In accordance with Gottfredson and Hirschi's claims, studies have consistently found that males have lower levels of self-control (Boisvert et al. 2012; Boisvert et al. 2013; Burton et al. 1998; Chapple and Johnson 2007; Chapple et al. 2010; Gibbs et al. 1998; Gibson et al. 2010; Higgins and Tewksbury 2006; Hope and Chapple 2005; LaGrange and Silverman 1999; McKee 2012; Thijs et al. 2015; Tittle et al. 2003; Unnever et al. 2003; Unnever et al. 2006; Winfree et al. 2006; Wright and Beaver 2005). In addition, self-control has been found to partially or even fully mediate the relationship between gender and crime (Boisvert et al. 2012; Burton et al. 1998; Chapple et al. 2010; Higgins and Tewksbury 2006; LaGrange and Silverman 1999; Meldrum 2008; Perrone et al. 2004; Thijs et al. 2015; Tittle et al. 2003). Thus, the research literature supports the contention that males possess less self-control, and that this self-control differential at least partly explains why males commit substantially more crime than females.

In accordance with their theory, Gottfredson and Hirschi attribute the gender gap in self-control to differential parenting. Gottfredson and Hirschi (1990) contend that parents tend to monitor their daughters more closely than their sons, yet they recognize that gender differences remain when controlling for supervision. Thus, they suggest that the gender gap in self-control also results from differentials in elements such as the recognition of misbehavior and willingness to put forth the effort necessary to correct such behavior, though they fail to elaborate on this explanation.

Self-control research on gender and parenting has produced mixed results. Gibbs et al.'s (1998) research revealed no gender differences in parental monitoring or discipline; however, several other studies have found that females are subjected to

higher levels of parental supervision (Chapple and Johnson 2007; Chapple et al. 2010; McKee 2012), while males are more likely to receive physical punishment (Chapple et al. 2010) or non-positive discipline, such as being spanked or ignored (Chapple and Johnson 2007). Little research, let alone a consensus, exists regarding gender differences in attachment. Boisvert et al. (2012) found that males report higher levels of maternal attachment, whereas Chapple and Johnson's (2007) research indicates that females are more attached to their mothers. Chapple et al. (2010) found no gender differences in maternal attachment; however, maternal attachment had a differential impact on self-control, as it was a predictor of self-control among boys but not girls. In addition, Chapple et al.'s (2010) measure of physical punishment was a predictor of boys' self-control only. While monitoring and discipline partially mediated the gender gap, 66 percent of the gender gap in self-control was not explained by parenting practices. Given that only their research on males produced results consistent with the traditional self-control literature, Chapple et al. suggest a gendered etiology, as the pathways to self-control do not appear to be identical for males and females. While the results from their admittedly small sample should be treated with caution, Chapple et al.'s study signals the need for more careful treatment of gender in self-control formation studies.

Family Structure, Parenting, and Self-Control

In outlining the significance of family structure, Gottfredson and Hirschi (1990:103) state that the "percentage of the population divorced, the percentage of households headed by women, and the percentage of unattached individuals" in a

community are "among the most powerful predictors of crime rates." Furthermore, they note children living with both biological parents have lower rates of offending than children living in "broken' or reconstituted homes" (p. 103). Though Gottfredson and Hirschi indicate that "all else being equal, one parent is sufficient," noting that "proper training" may occur outside of intact households, they also state that "all else is rarely equal" (p. 103-104). In particular, single parents not only bear responsibilities that are shared in two-parent families, but they must often do so in "the absence of psychological or social support (p. 104). This not only results in the single parent having less time to devote to monitoring and punishment, but increases the likelihood of "negative, abusive contacts with her children" (p. 104). Reconstituted families are also disadvantaged compare to intact families, due to the lower likelihood of mutual affection between children and stepparents.

Despite Gottfredson and Hirschi's (1990) claims regarding the role of family structure, the subject has been ignored in the otherwise growing body of research on parenting and self-control. Family structure is often omitted altogether in these studies. Even when included, family structure is usually treated as a dichotomous control variable, in which all respondents not from intact, two-biological parent households (Boutwell and Beaver 2010; Brannigan et al. 2002; Moon et al. 2014; Perrone et al. 2004; Unnever et al. 2006; Winfree et al. 2006) or all non-single parent households (Meldrum 2008) are grouped into a single category. Despite not being the focus of these studies, research indicates that children from two-biological parent household possess higher levels of self-control (Boutwell and Beaver 2010; Brannigan et al 2002; Perrone et al. 2004; Unnever et al. 2006). Likewise, there is evidence that children from single-

parent families have lower self-control than those from households with more than one adult present (Meldrum 2008). In a more nuanced treatment of family structure, Hope et al.'s (2003) research included dummy variables for both single-parent families and stepfamilies. Hope et al. (2003) found that adolescents from single-parent homes had lower levels of self-control; however, this relationship was fully mediated by parental monitoring and attachment. Phythian et al. (2008:78) similarly categorized family structure into three categories—intact, reconstituted, and single-parent—noting that "the 'broken versus intact' dichotomy" typical of criminology research is "not a sufficient operational definition of family structure." In this study, parental monitoring did not have a significant effect on self-control among the sample as a whole; however, the authors found a statistically significant interaction between parental monitoring and family type. This revealed that parental monitoring was a significant positive predictor of self-control control among children from reconstituted and single-parent families but not for children from intact families.

This limited body of research suggests that self-control is indeed related to family structure, as posited by Gottfredson and Hirschi; however, the process by which family structure produces self-control has been almost entirely overlooked. The dire need for such research—specifically, the extent to which family structure contributes to differences in the parenting practices that, in turn, produce disparities in self-control—is the impetus for this current study.

Chapter 4: Family Structure

In the quarter-century since the publication of *A General Theory of Crime*, the American family has changed significantly. Shifting patterns of marriage, remarriage, cohabitation, and non-marital childbearing have resulted in children being increasingly likely to live outside a household with married biological parents. Consequently, children are now more likely to experience living in alternative family structures beyond single-parent and stepparent households.

Marriage

Women's median age at first marriage was 27.1 years old in 2015, compared to 21.1 in 1975 and 24.5 in 1995 (U.S. Census Bureau 2015). The share of ever married women aged 18-49 has decreased from 73 percent in 1989 to 60 percent in 2014; however, the drop in the share of ever married women is largest among younger women—only 46 percent of women aged 25-29 in 2014 were ever married, compared to 71 percent of women in this age group in 1989—indicating that the decline in ever married women results from "postponement rather than a retreat from marriage" (Lamidi 2015a). Although women of all races and ethnicities have experienced a decline in marriage, African Americans have experienced the most drastic drop in the share of ever married women 18-49 has decreased among all educational attainment levels over the last quarter-century; however, women with less than a high school education have experienced the greatest decline—from 69 percent in 1989 to 52 percent in 2014—while women with at least a bachelor's degree have

undergone the smallest decline—from 74 percent in 1989 to 70 percent in 2014 (Lamidi 2015a).

Despite the retreat from—or the postponement of—marriage, attitudes toward marriage and divorce have remained relatively stable over several decades; instead, Americans have developed more favorable attitudes toward non-marital childbearing and cohabitation (Axinn and Thornton 2000). This indicates that Americans continue to place a high value on getting married and staying married, yet they have also become less likely to see marriage as the only acceptable relationship in which cohabitation and child-rearing may occur. Cherlin (2004; 2009) has argued that the practical importance of marriage has declined while its symbolic significance remains high. This is consistent with research on working and lower-middle class cohabitors, which indicates such groups no longer see marriage as a path to financial stability; instead, financial stability has become a prerequisite for marriage, and marriage, in turn, is now often seen as a status symbol signifying such an accomplishment (Smock et al. 2005). The increasingly prominent role of socioeconomic standing in marriage formation is supported by the fact that women with at least a bachelor's degree are now far more likely to be ever married, whereas just a quarter-century ago women with a high school degree surpassed college-educated women in marriage experience (Lamidi 2015a). Given that African Americans experience more socioeconomic disadvantage, the growing importance of economic factors also helps explain the increasing racial gap in marriage (Raley et al. 2015).

Remarriage

Although the remarriage rate has decreased over the last 25 years, remarriage remains common (Payne 2015). According to the American Community Survey, 42 percent of recent marriages are second marriages for at least one spouse (Lewis and Kreider 2015). As a result of high levels of remarriage and non-marital childbearing, 26 percent of marriages include stepchildren (Stykes and Guzzo 2015). Among remarried stepfamilies, the stepparent is usually male: 46 percent of such families includes only a stepfather, 31 percent includes both a stepfather and stepmother, and 23 percent includes only a stepfather. Furthermore, stepchildren are more likely to live with a stepfather than a stepmother.

White women are more likely than African-American or Latina women to remarry (McNamee and Raley 2011). McNamee and Raley's (2011) research also suggests that education is positively associated with remarriage, which is consistent with older research regarding the importance of women's economic prospects in facilitating marriage (Sweeney 2002).

Cohabitation

The percentage of women (ages 19-44) who have ever cohabited nearly doubled, from 33 percent in 1987 to 65 percent in 2011-2013 (Manning and Stykes 2015). Cohabitation has become the most common pathway to marriage, with 69 percent of women cohabiting prior to first marriage in 2010-2013, compared to 46 percent in 1985-1989. An increase in post-marital cohabitation has partially offset the decline in the remarriage rate (McNamee and Raley 2011); however, cohabitation is often a precursor to remarriage as well, as nearly two-thirds of recently remarried women

cohabited with their husbands (Teachman 2008). The share of all current unions that are cohabiting unions also increased, from 10 percent in 1987 to 28 percent in 2011-2013 (Manning and Stykes 2015).

The share of women who have ever cohabited has increased substantially across racial and ethnic groups over the same period, but at different rates. Whereas African-American women were once more likely to have ever cohabited (36 percent in 1987, compared to 32 percent and 30 percent of White and Hispanic women, respectively), the share of African-American women who ever cohabited plateaued in the last decade. Conversely, the share of White and Hispanic women who ever cohabited has continued to increase steadily, such that 67 percent of White and 64 percent of Hispanic women ever cohabited by 2011-2013, compared to 59 percent of African-American women.

Cohabitation experience has also increased across all levels of educational attainment. Although women with some college education experienced the greatest increases, cohabitation nonetheless remains more common for less educated women. In 2011-2013, 76% of women without high school degrees had ever cohabited, compared to 58% of women with at least four years of college. Likewise, cohabiting families are more economically disadvantaged than married parent families: cohabiting social parent families and cohabiting biological parent families are nearly two and three times more likely, respectively, to live at or below the poverty line, compared to married biological parent families (Brown et al. 2016; Manning 2015). Prior research on fragile families indicates that the median income of cohabiting parent households is less than that of married parent households (Kalil and Ryan 2010).

In the last two decades, never married and previously married cohabiting couples have become more similar in terms of presence of children in the household (Lamidi 2015b). In 1995, 50 percent of previously married cohabiting couples lived with children, compared to 36 percent of never married cohabitors. By 2014, the share of previously married cohabiting couples with children in the household had dropped to 41 percent, while the proportion of never married couples living with children increased to 39 percent. Despite the seemingly converging paths of cohabitation and marriage, cohabiting families are less stable (Manning et al 2004; Hognas and Thomas 2016; Osborne et al. 2007; Osborne and McLanahan 2007). Osborne et al. (2007) found that compared to children born to married parents, children born to cohabiting parents have more than five times the risk of experiencing their parents' separation during their first three years. Even after controlling for demographics, economics, relationship quality, and family complexity, cohabiting parents were still over two and a half times as likely to separate within three years of the child's birth. For White children born to cohabiting parents, a subsequent marriage may significantly increase family stability to a level that matches the stability enjoyed by children born in marriage; however, marriage after birth does not provide any such increase in stability for Hispanic and African-American families (Manning et al. 2004).

Non-Marital Childbearing, Non-Traditional Family Structures, and Family Transitions

Cohabitation allows couples to enter into parenthood without first overcoming barriers to marriage, including economic stability (Edin and Reed 2005; Smock et al. 2005). Thus, concurrent with the proliferation of cohabitation, non-marital childbearing has become increasingly common in the last thirty years. The proportion of births to unmarried mothers under age 40 doubled between 1980 and 2013, from 21 percent to 43 percent; however, this trend was driven almost entirely by increases in the share of births to cohabiting mothers (from 6 percent to 25 percent), as the share of births to single mothers changed very little (from 15 percent to 18 percent) (Manning et al. 2015). Shares of non-marital childbearing—and births to cohabiting mothers, in particular—increased among African-American, Hispanic, and White mothers, with the latter two groups experiencing more drastic increases. Likewise, shares of births to unmarried mothers increased significantly across all levels of educational attainment, primarily due to increases in cohabiting births across every level of educational attainment; however, non-marital childbearing remained far more common among less educated women. For example, non-marital childbearing only accounted for 11 percent (eight percent cohabiting, three percent single) of all births for college-educated women under age 40, compared to 68 percent (41 percent cohabiting, 27 percent single) of births for women who did not finish high school (Manning et al. 2015).

Cohabitation has become a normal context in which to bear and raise children, although children born to cohabiting parents face a greater likelihood of experiencing the dissolution of their parents' unions (Bianchi 2014). Depending on the outcome of the relationship, the cohabitational path to parenthood can result in a child being raised in a number of household types, including married or unmarried biological parents, a married or unmarried social parent, or a single parent. Despite the increase in the share of births to cohabiting parents, only three percent of minor children in the United States live with two biological cohabiting parents (Payne 2013). This suggests that for

unmarried couples that have a child together, cohabitation is rarely a long-term arrangement; instead, most of these relationships either dissolve or transition into marriage.

The increasing popularity of cohabitation is reflected in the nomenclatural complications it has created for family scholars. Twenty years ago Bumpass et al. (1995) proposed that the definition of stepfamilies be expanded to include cohabitation with a child of only one partner. A decade later, Cherlin (2004:849) noted that cohabitation has "created an additional layer of complexity in stepfamilies." In recent years, the term "social father" has been used in reference to a mother's romantic partner who is not her child's biological father (Berger et al. 2008; Berger and Langton 2011; Bzostek 2008; Cancian and Meyer 2014). Whereas the term "stepfather" may imply a marital union, "social father" may refer to a married or unmarried romantic partner of the child's mother. Given that it is becoming more common for these couples to live together outside the context of marriage, it is important to draw a clear distinction between married and cohabiting non-biological fathers. To avoid the ambiguous marital implications of the term "stepfather," the current study uses the terms "married social father" and "cohabiting social father" in reference to mothers' resident romantic partners.

The majority of American children (59 percent) live with two married biological parents (Payne 2013). The second-most common family type is the single-parent family: 24 percent of children live in such households, with 21 percent in single-mother families and three percent in single-father families. Five percent of children live in a married stepparent family, while four percent live with a cohabiting social parent. Only

three percent of children live with two cohabiting biological parents. Children's family structures vary widely by race: 71 percent of White children live with both biological parents (69 percent married, 2 percent cohabiting), compared to 60 percent of Hispanic children (54 percent married, 6 percent cohabiting) and 33 percent of African-American children (30 percent married, 3 percent cohabiting). Conversely, 49 percent of African-American American children live with a single mother, compared to 25 percent of Hispanic children and 13 percent of White children (Payne 2013).

Although the majority of children live with married biological parents, a substantial portion of children are raised outside of such households. Furthermore, as noted by Susan Brown (2010: 1066), family structure simply "provides a snapshot of children's living arrangements" rather than capturing the entirety of family experiences over the course of childhood. Hence, while fewer than 10 percent of children may live in a cohabiting household at a given point in time (Payne 2013), 40 percent of American children will have spent at least part of their lives in a cohabiting household by age 12 (Manning 2015). Thus, it is imperative to consider the impact of family instability on children as their families transition through multiple types of living arrangements. As previously mentioned, children born to unmarried parents are especially at risk of experiencing multiple family transitions (Osborne and McLanahan 2007). The growing popularity of non-traditional family types warrants an examination of outcomes experienced by children in these families and raises questions of whether differences in parenting practices can account for discrepancies in children's outcomes.

Children's Outcomes and Parenting Practices by Family Structure

Children living with both biological parents have better outcomes, with respect to physical health, cognitive skills, behavior, and emotional well-being (Amato 2005; Bass and Warehime 2011; Harknett 2008; Hofferth 2006; Langton and Berger 2011; Schmeer 2012). Children living in other two-parent family types—including blended and cohabiting families with social fathers-have more emotional and behavioral problems, lesser cognitive skills, and lower levels of school engagement (Berger and McLanahan 2015; Carlson 2006; Manning and Lamb 2003; Nelson et al. 2001; Ram and Hou 2003). Cohabiting biological parents do not appear to confer the same type of advantage as married biological parents, as children living with cohabiting biological parents are more similar to their counterparts from cohabiting stepfamilies than those from married biological parent households (Thomson and McLanahan 2012). Furthermore, research suggests that children born outside of marriage to parents who subsequently marry have more behavioral problems than children born to married parents (Carlson 2006). However, Brown (2004) found that controlling for economic resources rendered the gap between children from married and cohabiting biological parent families nonsignificant, although differences persisted between two-biologicalparent married families and other family types.

Some research indicates that children living with a cohabiting social parent have worse educational and cognitive outcomes than children in married stepfamilies (Brown 2006; Manning and Lamb 2003; Sweeney 2010). Children living with a biological mother and her cohabiting partner have outcomes that are more similar to children from single-mother families than to children living with a married stepparent (Sweeney 2010); however, Brown (2006) found that formalizing a cohabiting stepfamily into a

married stepfamily did not improve children's well-being relative to stable cohabiting stepfamilies. Other studies suggest that child outcomes are similar, regardless of whether a parent remarries or enters into a cohabiting stepfamily, with neither arrangement improving children's well-being, relative to residing in a single-mother household (Brown 2004). Manning and Lamb (2003) found that teenagers living with a stepfather fared better than children of single mothers in terms of delinquency and grades; however, this difference was mediated by mother's marriage history, as single mothers experienced fewer stable, marriage-like relationships. Nelson et al.'s (2001) research suggests that the impact of a blended family structure may vary by race. In their study, White and Hispanic teenagers living in blended families fared neither better nor worse than those living in single-mother families in terms of behavioral outcomes; however, African-American teenagers in blended families were less likely to have emotional and behavioral problems than their single-mother family counterparts (Nelson et al. 2001).

In general, family structure transitions are associated with negative outcomes, including increases in antisocial behavior and decreases in academic achievement (Brown 2004; Brown 2006; Cavanagh and Fomby 2012; Fomby 2013; Fomby and Bosick 2013; Lee and McLanahan 2015; Magnuson and Berger 2009; Mitchell et al. 2015). The nature of the transition matters, as research suggests that the transition out of a two-parent family has a greater negative impact than the transition into a two-parent family (Lee and McLanahan 2015). Transitioning from a cohabiting stepfamily into a single-mother family may not be harmful, whereas moving from a single-mother family into a cohabiting stepfamily may decrease adolescent well-being (Brown 2006).

However, Mitchell et al. (2015) found that the entrance of a biological father into a household was associated with a decrease in children's antisocial behavior. These findings suggest that the entrances and exits of biological and social fathers may need to be examined as unique transitional categories.

Family structure and stability are related, yet distinct concepts with independent effects, as illustrated by the research of Waldfogel et al. (2010). They found that children raised by stable single or cohabiting parents were at less risk of negative cognitive, behavioral, and health outcomes than children raised by unstable single or cohabiting parents; however, stability and structure impacted children in different ways. In particular, family instability mattered more than family structure for children's cognitive and health outcomes, while growing up with a single mother mattered more than instability for behavior problems. This illustrates the importance of considering both family structure and family stability when assessing the impact of family dynamics on children's outcomes.

Although it has been established that children's outcomes vary based on family structure and stability, it is less clear why this relationship exists. One potential explanation is that children who live in non-traditional household structures—or who experience one or more family transitions—do not receive the same parenting quality as children born to, and raised by, married biological parents. Most research indicates that parenting quality is higher in families with married biological parents, compared to those with social fathers (Berger 2007). In particular, children living with married biological parents experience higher levels of parental engagement (Carlson and Berger 2013; Hofferth 2006). Stepparents experience higher levels of parenting stress than

biological parents (Shapiro 2014). In addition, family transitions are associated with higher levels of maternal stress and lower quality mothering, including harsh parenting techniques (Beck et al. 2010; Osborne and McLanahan 2007). Parenting stress, in turn, is associated with less open parent-child communication (Ponnet et al. 2013), lax and overreactive parenting practices (harsh verbal commands and physical punishment), and problematic child behavior (Guajardo et al. 2009). Although substandard parenting is more common in mother-partner families, income has a strong protective effect, such that parenting improves as income rises (Berger 2007). Increased income may influence the amount of time and money that can be devoted to caregiving (Berger 2007).

Some studies employing the Fragile Families data set have produced results that are inconsistent with prior research. For example, Berger and McLanahan (2015) found that married biological fathers were less engaged with their children than cohabiting biological fathers and married and cohabiting stepfathers, while Berger et al. (2008) found that married social fathers engaged in higher quality parenting practices than married biological fathers. One potential explanation offered by researchers is that these findings are the product of newer partnerships, which raises questions of whether "highquality parental relationships and parenting behaviors persist over time" in such families (Berger and McLanahan 2015:1010).

An important factor in the quality of parenting a child receives is the level of the biological father's involvement, even when the father does not live with the child. Both the level of biological father involvement and its impact vary, based on a number of factors. A child's gender may affect level of involvement, with boys more likely to have highly involved fathers (Carlson 2006; King et al. 2004); however, higher father

involvement appears to be equally beneficial for boys and girls (Amato and Gilbreth 1999; Carlson 2006). Father involvement matters more when the father lives with the adolescent (Carlson 2006). Likewise, marital status at birth influences involvement, as non-marital childbearing has been linked to lower levels of father involvement (King et al. 2004). Non-resident father involvement varies by education and race: less educated White fathers have the lowest levels of involvement, and more educated White fathers have the lowest levels of involvement, and more educated White fathers by education level (King et al. 2004). Similarly, previous research has found that family disruption has more negative consequences for Whites than for African Americans or Hispanics (McLanahan and Sandefur 1994).

A review of the research literature within sociology of the family highlights the extent to which the research from criminology lacks nuanced treatments of family structures and processes. This is especially problematic for criminological theories in which family is a central factor, such as self-control theory. It is necessary to recognize that even children who live with their biological mothers often grow up in multiple household types, and that variations in parenting practices within each family structure may contribute to differences in self-control, which may be crucial to explaining disparities in children's outcomes by family type.

Chapter 5: Hypotheses

In accordance with Gottfredson and Hirschi's theory, it is expected that children who live with married biological parents possess higher levels of self-control due to higher-quality parenting practices—such as monitoring, recognition of misbehavior, discipline, and attachment—compared to children who live with cohabiting biological parents, a biological mother and social father (a stepfather or an unmarried romantic partner who resides in the same household as the mother and child), or a single mother.

It is expected that girls possess higher levels of self-control and receive higher higher-quality parenting—especially higher levels of monitoring—compared to boys, as Gottfredson and Hirschi claim; however, based on the existing research literature, it is anticipated that gender differences in self-control persist, independent of parenting practices.

In addition, this dissertation will include within-group comparisons of biological father households and social father households by marital status. It is expected that children who live with married biological parents enjoy higher-quality parenting and higher levels of self-control, while children from married and cohabiting social father households do not differ significantly on these factors; in other words, children who live with a social father (married or cohabiting) or cohabiting biological father are similarly disadvantaged, relative to children who reside with married biological parents. Furthermore, it is anticipated that children from single-mother households experience better parenting and possess higher levels of self-control when the child's biological father is involved in the child's life.

Chapter 6: Methodology

Sample

The data for this study are from the Fragile Families and Child Wellbeing Study, a longitudinal study of nearly 5,000 children born in the United States between 1998 and 2000. Fragile Families data were employed for the current study for several reasons. In parsing a sample of children and their families by five household structure groups, as the current study does, a researcher runs the risk of creating one or more groups too small for meaningful comparisons. In tracking such a large number children and their families from birth—including a disproportionately high number at risk of experiencing family disruptions—Fragile Families is one of the few data sets sizable enough to provide a substantial number of cases for each household structure. The longitudinal design of Fragile Families also allows researchers to capture potential family transitions in close proximity to when they occur at several points in early childhood. Furthermore, Fragile Families includes detailed data pertaining to parenting practices and children's behavioral issues—critical components to any examination of parenting and self-control.

Due to the study's focus on fragile families—those at greater risk of breaking up and living in poverty—the sample includes a disproportionately high percentage of children from such families, with nearly three-fourths of the children in the sample born to unmarried parents. Fragile Families includes interviews with mothers and fathers at birth (Wave I), followed by parent interviews when children are ages one (Wave II), three (Wave III), five (Wave IV), and nine (Wave V). In addition to mother and father surveys, Wave V also includes in-home interviews of focal children. Although data

from Waves I-IV are employed in the construction of variables measuring family instability, the current study focuses primarily on children and their families at Wave V. In particular, the current study compares children that live with their biological mothers all or most of the time, by the presence of a married or cohabiting biological father, a married or cohabiting social father, or no resident father (single-mother households). Although 3,400 children participated in Wave V interviews, cases with missing responses on pertinent variables (i.e., no response on all 25 self-control items), deceased or unknown biological fathers, and family household structures outside the scope of the current study (i.e., those in which the child does not live primarily with his/her biological mother; same-sex social parents) are not included in the current analysis, resulting in a working sample of 2,678 children and their families.

Control variables

The analyses include variables controlling for age, gender, race/ethnicity, mothers' education, and family poverty.

[Table 1 about here]

Age

Child's age for the current study is based on age at the time of the mother's Wave V interview. The mean age of children in the working sample is 9.27 years (S.D.=0.356). Children range from 8.66-10.88 years of age, with 73.3% of the sample between the ages of 9.00-9.99 years.

Gender

Child's gender is treated as a dummy variable with male=1 and female=0. The mean of the sample for the dummy variable Male is 0.528 (S.D.=0.499) indicating that 52.8% of the children are male and 47.2% are female.

Race/ethnicity

Two dummy variables are included as measures of race and ethnicity: African-American and Hispanic (non-African-American). For the dummy variable African-American, children with at least one biological parent that identified as African-American at Wave I are coded as 1, while all others are coded as 0. The mean of the variable African-American is 0.494 (S.D.=0.500), indicating that 49.4% of the sample is African-American. For the dummy variable Hispanic, children with at least one biological parent that identified as Hispanic (and neither parent identifying as African-American) are coded as 1, while all others are coded as 0. The mean of the variable Hispanic is 0.311 (S.D.=0.463), indicating that 31.1% of the sample is Hispanic. Questionnaires also allowed mothers and fathers to identify as "other" on items measuring race; however, since only 42 (1.6%) non-African-American, non-Hispanic children in the study had at least one parent identify as such, they are included with Whites in the reference category. Therefore, the sample is 49.4% African-American, 31.1% Hispanic, and 19.5% White and all other races.

Mother's education

Mother's education is determined by the mother's level of educational attainment at the time of the Wave V interview. Mother's education is treated as a dummy variable: mothers who graduated from college or completed some college or technical school are coded as 1, and all other respondents are coded as 0. The mean for the mother's education dummy variable is 0.578 (S.D.=0.494), indicating that 57.8% of mothers in the sample completed at least some college or technical schooling.

Family poverty

Family poverty is based on a categorical variable measuring mother's poverty at Wave V. This constructed variable in the Fragile Families data set is based on mother reports of household size and income. For the current study, this item has been recoded into a family poverty dummy variable: mothers whose household incomes place them below the official poverty threshold (as established by the U.S. Census Bureau) are coded as 1, and all other respondents are coded as 0. The mean for the family poverty dummy variable is 0.359 (S.D.=0.478), indicating that 35.9% of children in the sample live in households below the poverty line.

Family structure variables

[Table 2 about here]

Household structure

The child interview in Wave V includes an item indicating whether the child has seen his/her biological father in the last year, with three response categories: 1) yes, because the biological father lives with the mother and child; 2) yes, but the biological father does not live in the same household; 3) no. In addition, for cases in which the biological father does not live in the same household as the mother and child, there is an item indicating whether the mother has a husband or partner in the household. For the current study, these two items have been employed in the construction of two dummy variables: the resident social father dummy variable is coded as 1 for all cases in which the child and mother live with a male partner who is not the child's biological father, while the single mother dummy variable is coded as 1 for all cases in which the mother does not have a partner residing in the same household as the mother and child. The reference category for each variable consists of cases in which the biological father lives with the mother and child (coded as 0 for both dummy variables). The means for the resident social father and single mother dummy variables are 0.172 (S.D.=0.378) and 0.396 (S.D.=0.489), indicating that 17.2% of children in the sample reside with a social father and biological mother, while 39.6% have neither a biological father nor a social father residing with their biological mothers. The remaining 43.2% of the sample consists of children who live with both biological parents.

The mother interview in Wave V includes a question regarding the mother's relationship status with the biological father; in cases in which the biological father and mother are not married and do not live together, mothers are also asked about current relationships with other partners, including whether they are married and/or living together. These items, in conjunction with the resident social father and single mother dummy variables, are used in the creation of several additional dummy variables that distinguish resident biological and social fathers by marital status. These variables reveal that 33.1% of children in the sample live with married biological parents, while

10.1% reside with a cohabiting biological father. Meanwhile, 7.4% of children in the sample live with a married social father (stepfather), while 9.8% reside with a cohabiting (unmarried) social father. Thus, the vast majority of resident biological fathers among the sample population are married (76.6%) rather than cohabiting (23.4%), whereas resident social fathers are more likely to be cohabiting (57%) than married (43%) (figures not shown in Table 2).

Father contact

The household structure variables do not capture an important family dynamic: involvement of biological fathers, which may occur even when fathers do not live in the same households as their children. As previously mentioned, the child interview in Wave V includes an item indicating whether the child has seen his/her biological father in the last year. This item is used to create a biological father contact dummy variable, whereby cases are coded as 1 if the child has seen his/her biological father in the last year, regardless of the father's residence (all children residing in the same household as their biological fathers are coded as 1). The mean for the biological father contact dummy variable is 0.797 (S.D.=0.402), indicating that 79.7% of children in the sample have seen their biological fathers in the previous year. In particular, 58.1% of children with a resident social father and 66.8% of children in single-mother households have seen their biological fathers in the past year (figures not shown in Table 2).

It should be noted that this father contact variable does not measure the extent of biological father involvement, as it makes no distinction between children who see their fathers everyday and those who have seen their fathers once in the previous year, nor

does it gauge the quality of those interactions. Rather, it is simply a family structure measure indicating whether a child's biological father has had any recent presence in the child's life.

Family transitions

Biological mother's living situation—specifically, whether she 1) lived with the child's biological father (married or cohabiting), 2) lived with a romantic partner (married or cohabiting) unrelated to the child (social father), or 3) lived alone—can be determined at each wave based on mother interviews. This allows for the computation of biological father and social father exits and entrances between waves. More than one transition may occur between waves. For example, if a mother lives with the child's biological father in one wave and reports living with a different partner in the next wave, then it is coded as two transitions: a biological father exit and a social father entrance. In addition, transitions may occur independently of changes in marital status. For example, if a mother reports being married to the biological father but not living together after being married and living together in the previous wave, then this is coded as a biological father exit. Furthermore, if the same mother reported being married to the biological father and living together in a subsequent wave, then this is coded as a biological father exit. However, in order to simplify comparisons of Wave V family structures, the working sample for the current study excludes a small number of families in which the mother reported being married to the biological father at Wave V yet the child reported not residing in the same household as the father. Thus, all currently married fathers—biological and social—in the study lived in the same households as the

children at the time of Wave V interviews. It should be noted that the transition coding method for this study may undercount the number of transitions that occur between waves, especially among families who did not participate in every wave.

Unique variables were created for biological father exits, biological father entrances, social father exits, and social father entrances. Only 2.2% of the sample experienced two biological father exits; likewise, fewer than 2% experienced multiple biological father entrances, social father exits, or social father entrances. Therefore, dummy variables were created for each category. As shown in Table 2, the mean for the biological father exit dummy variable is 0.386 (S.D.=0.487), indicating that 38.6% of children in the sample experienced at least one biological father exit. Other transitions were less common: 21.2% of children experienced at least one biological father entrance after birth, 10.8% experienced at least one social father exit, and 26.6% experienced at least one social father entrance.

In addition, to capture the cumulative effect of multiple transitions, a total family transitions variable (mean=0.995; S.D.=1.045) has been created by summing exits and entrances across every wave, with the total number of changes capped at three (only 2.8% of the sample reported more than three total transitions).

Family process variables

[Table 3 about here]

Maternal monitoring

The child interview in Wave V includes a set of items indicating how closely the respondent is supervised by his/her primary caregiver (in all cases in the working

sample, this is the child's biological mother). The current study employs a maternal monitoring scale composed of responses to four questions on the child interview:

- (1) How often does your mom know what you do during your free time? (mean=2.170; S.D.=0.912)
- (2) How often does your mom know which friends you hang out with during your free time? (mean=2.212; S.D.=1.021)
- (3) How often does your mom ask you about things that happened when you are not with her? (mean=1.9461; S.D.=1.036)
- (4) How often does your mom make you tell her where you are going and with whom before you go out? (mean=2.452; S.D.=0.968)

Valid responses to these items include "never," "sometimes/not very often," "often," and "always." Responses were initially scored from "never" = 0 to "always" = 3; however, for the current study responses have been reverse coded, so that higher scores reflect higher levels of monitoring, and transformed into standardized scores (to ensure that each item contributes evenly to the scale). The maternal monitoring scale is the sum of the standardized scores of the four items. As shown in Table 3, the mean for the maternal monitoring scale is 0 (S.D=2.411), with higher scores indicating higher levels of maternal monitoring.

Failure to recognize misbehavior

In accordance with Gottfredson and Hirschi's claim that allowing a child to watch an excessive amount of television constitutes parental failure to recognize problematic behavior, the current study measures parental failure to recognize misbehavior via a child interview item asking respondents how much time they spend on a weekday watching TV and movies. Responses range from "none" (=0) to "more than 2 hours" (=4). This item has been recoded into a dummy variable, with respondents who watch more than two hours of TV coded as 1, while all others are coded as 0. The mean for the failure to recognize misbehavior dummy variable is 0.309 (S.D.=0.459), indicating that 30.9% of children watch TV excessively.

Parental discipline

The child interview in Wave V includes a series of questions pertaining to parental discipline received in the past year:

- (1) How often your mom explained why something you did was wrong?(mean=2.234; S.D.=1.265)
- (2) How often your mom sent you to your room, took away privileges, or grounded you? (mean=1.585; S.D.=1.120)
- (3) How often your mom shouted, yelled, screamed, swore, or cursed at you?(mean=1.143; S.D.=1.383)
- (4) How often your mom spanked or hit you? (mean=0.984; S.D.=1.171)

Valid responses to these items include "never" (=1), "less than once/month," "once or a few times/month," "few times/week," and "every/almost every day" (=4). These survey items are used to create four measures of discipline: explanation (based on item 1), grounding (item 2), negative verbal (item 3), and physical (item 4). These measures are represented by four dummy variables: for each type of discipline, cases are coded as 1 if the mother ever engaged in such practices in the past year and 0 if the mother never

employed such techniques. As shown in Table 3, the mean for the mother explanation dummy variable is 0.859 (S.D.=0.348), indicating that 85.9% of the children in the sample reported that their mothers had explained why something they did was wrong at least once in the past year. Likewise, 74.2% of children had been grounded, sent to their rooms, or revoked of privileges by their mothers; 59.7% of children received negative verbal discipline from their mothers; 50.7% of children were subjected to physical discipline from their mothers.

The child interview includes identical sets of parental discipline items pertaining to involved biological fathers (regardless of residence) and resident social fathers. These items were also used to create dummy variables measuring biological father and social father discipline among children with involved biological fathers and social fathers, respectively. As shown in Table 3, the mean for the biological father explanation dummy variable is 0.706 (S.D.=0.456), indicating that 70.6% of children with involved biological fathers reported that these fathers had explained why something they did was wrong at least once in the past year. Likewise, 50.8% of children with involved biological fathers had been grounded, sent to their rooms, or revoked of privileges by these fathers; 44.1% of children received negative verbal discipline from their biological fathers; 35.7% of children were subjected to physical discipline from their biological fathers. The mean for the social father explanation dummy variable is 0.702 (S.D.=0.458), indicating that 70.2% of children with resident social fathers reported that these fathers had explained why something they did was wrong at least once in the past year. Likewise, 55.3% of children with resident social fathers had been grounded, sent to their rooms, or revoked of privileges by these fathers; 52.8% of children received

negative verbal discipline from their social fathers; 26.3% of children were subjected to physical discipline from their social fathers.

To allow for comparisons of parenting practices across all household structures, composite variables have been created for each type of discipline (explanation, grounding, negative verbal, physical) by computing the averages of applicable measures of parental discipline. For example, for a child who lives with his/her mother and a social father while also having an involved biological father, parental explanation is the average of mother explanation, biological father explanation, and social father explanation; conversely, for a child who resides with a single mother and has not seen his/her biological father in the last year, parental explanation is equal to mother explanation.

Parental attachment

The child interview in Wave V includes an item asking how close the respondent feels to his/her mother, with responses ranging from "extremely close" to "not very close." An identical question is asked of children regarding their biological fathers (if seen in the previous year) and social fathers (if applicable). Responses to these items were initially scored from 1 = "extremely close" to 4 = "not very close;" however, for the current study responses have been reverse coded, so that higher scores reflect higher levels of attachment. As shown in Table 3, children reported the highest levels of attachment to mothers (mean=3.664; S.D.=0.692), followed by attachment to biological fathers (mean=3.357 S.D.=0.955) and attachment to social fathers (mean=3.071; S.D.=0.999).

In addition, a composite parental attachment variable (mean=3.510; S.D.=0.670) has been created by computing the average of applicable measures of parental attachment for each case. For a child who lives with his/her mother and a social father while also having an involved biological father, parental attachment is the average of all three types of attachment; conversely, for a child who resides with a single mother and has not seen his/her biological father in the last year, parental attachment is equal to maternal attachment.

Self-control

The primary caregiver self-administered questionnaire from Wave V of Fragile Families contains 111 questions taken from the behavioral, emotional, and social problems scales of Archenbach and Rescorla's Child Behavior Checklists. For the current study, 25 of these items are used to create a self-control scale. Many of these items are similar to those used to measure children's self-control in studies employing earlier waves of Fragile Families data (Boutwell and Beaver 2010a; Boutwell and Beaver 2010b). The 25 items are shown in Table 4.

[Table 4 about here]

For each item, the primary caregiver (for all cases in the current study, this is the child's biological mother) was asked to report whether the statement was "not true," "somewhat or sometimes true," or "very true or often true" for her child. Responses to these items were initially scored from 1 = "not true" to 3 = "very true or often true;" however, for the current study responses have been reverse coded, so that higher scores

reflect higher levels of self-control. Mean values for each self-control scale item (after recoding) are displayed in Table 4.

The self-control scale is composed of the sum of the standardized scores of the 25 items. The mean for the self-control scale for the sample is 0 (S.D=13.889). Cronbach's alpha for the linear composite of the 25 items is 0.91, indicating a high degree of reliability. Reliability could not be improved by eliminating any of the items.

A principal component analysis was conducted to determine the dimensionality of the four items measuring self-control. The principal components analysis indicates a single factor, with the first four eigenvalues of 7.84, 1.67, 1.40, 1.15, and all remaining eigenvalues under one. A scree test further indicates a single factor, with a substantial break between the first and second eigenvalues, compared to the breaks between subsequent eigenvalues.

Plan of Analysis

The relationships between family structure, parenting practices, and self-control can be examined through analysis of variance (ANOVA), Tukey's honest significant difference (HSD) test, and weighted least squares (WLS) regressions.

A series of one-way ANOVA will be conducted to determine whether family processes—monitoring, failure to recognize misbehavior, explanation, grounding, negative verbal discipline, physical discipline, and attachment—and self-control differ by household structure. ANOVA can be used to identify whether there are differences between groups—in this instance, household structures—but it does not indicate which specific groups differ for each variable. Therefore, Tukey's (HSD) test will be employed in conjunction with ANOVA to determine specific between-group differences. Tukey's HSD test is a pairwise comparison technique that is used to determine which specific pair(s) of groups contributed to a significant F-ratio in ANOVA (Weinstein 2010:267). For example, if one-way ANOVA indicates that maternal monitoring significantly differs by household structure, a Tukey post-hoc test will reveal which pairs of household structures account for this difference. In other words, Tukey's test will determine whether there is a significant difference between married biological father households and married social father households in maternal monitoring.

A series of t-tests will be conducted to determine whether family processes, biological father contact, and self-control differ by gender. These comparisons of means will reveal whether boys and girls are parented differently.

In addition, the effect of family structures and processes on self-control will be evaluated in a series of Weighted Least Squares (WLS) regressions: a full sample analysis, followed by comparisons of biological father households, social father households, and single-mother households. Due to the design of the Fragile Families sample (i.e. oversampling of non-marital births) and attrition over waves, every wave of the Fragile Families data set includes weights that were constructed in order to produce unbiased statistical estimates. When employed, these weights make Fragile Families data nationally representative. The current study uses national level mother weights at Wave V in WLS regression analyses. Family structures and processes will be regressed on self-control, with the expectation that family structure has no direct effect on selfcontrol, independent of family process variables; in other words, the relationships

between family structures (household structure, biological father contact, and family transitions) and self-control should be fully mediated by parenting practices (monitoring, recognition, discipline, and attachment). Conversely, it is expected that the relationship between gender and self-control persists, independent of other factors.

Chapter 7: Results

ANOVA

[Table 5 about here]

Table 5 displays mean values for self-control and each of the family process variables—monitoring, recognition of misbehavior, explanation, grounding, negative verbal discipline, physical discipline, and attachment—by household structure. To assess whether family processes and self-control differed by household structure, a series of one-way analyses of variance (ANOVA) were conducted. F-statistics and pvalues for these analyses are displayed in Table 5. The F-statistic is a ratio of the variability between groups compared to the variability within groups. If between-group variability is large relative to within-group variability, then it is less likely that the means of each group are equal, as indicated by corresponding p-values.

As shown in Table 5, the F-statistic was significant for every one-way ANOVA. In other words, there was a statistically significant difference (p<.05) between households in mean levels of maternal monitoring (F=2.507, p=.040), failure to recognize misbehavior (F=8.166, p=.000), explanation (F=12.040, p=.000), grounding (F=8.543, p=.000), negative verbal discipline (F=4.115, p=.003), physical discipline (F=5.026, p=.000), attachment (F=20.891, p=.000), and children's self-control (F=14.609, p=.000). These ANOVA results are consistent with the hypothesis that family processes and self-control differ by household type.

Full sample Tukey's HSD test

[Table 6 about here]

Table 6 includes mean differences in self-control and family process variables between every combination of household pairs. For example, Table 5 shows that married social father households had a mean of 0.313 for maternal monitoring, compared to a mean of -0.345 for cohabiting social father households; the difference between these two values—0.658—is reflected in Table 6. Furthermore, the p-value obtained from Tukey's HSD test indicates that this mean difference in maternal monitoring between married social father and cohabiting social father households was statistically significant (p=.031) at the p<.05 level. Hence, children from married social father households experienced significantly higher levels of monitoring than children from cohabiting social father households. With respect to maternal monitoring, no other pairwise comparisons of household structures revealed significant mean differences.

Tukey's HSD test indicates that two household pairings significantly differed in failure to recognize misbehavior: married biological father households had significantly lower mean scores than cohabiting social father (mean difference = -0.151; p=.000) and single-mother households (mean difference = -0.96; p=.000). Since failure to recognize misbehavior is a dummy variable for which a value of "1" denotes excessive TV viewing, higher scores reflect lower levels of recognition of misbehavior. Thus, the aforementioned mean differences indicate that parents of children in married biological father households were significantly more likely to recognize misbehavior than their counterparts in cohabiting social father and single-mother households.

Children from married biological father households were significantly more likely to report that their parents explained why something they did was wrong, compared to married social father (mean difference = 0.090; p=.006), cohabiting social father (mean difference = 0.129; p=.000), and single-mother (mean difference=0.085; p=.000) households. In addition, cohabiting biological father households had significantly higher levels of parental explanation than cohabiting social father households (mean difference = 0.089; p=.018).

Children from married biological father households were significantly more likely to have been grounded, compared to children from cohabiting social father (mean difference = 0.129; p=.000) and single-mother households (mean difference = 0.087; p=.000). These household pairs also differed in negative verbal discipline, but in an unexpected direction: children from married biological father households were more likely to experience such treatment than their counterparts from cohabiting social father (mean difference = 0.083; p=.046) and single-mother households (mean difference = 0.071; p=.002). Children from married biological father households were also more likely to experience physical discipline than children from cohabiting social father households (mean difference = 0.124; p=.000). Children from cohabiting social father households were also significantly less likely to experience physical discipline than children from single-mother households (mean difference = -0.125; p=.000).

As expected, Tukey's HSD test indicates that children from married biological father households reported significantly higher levels of parental attachment than those from cohabiting biological father (mean difference = 0.157; p=.006), married social father (mean difference = 0.247; p=.000), cohabiting social father (mean difference = 0.387; p=.000), and single-mother (mean difference = 0.164; p=.000) households. In addition, children from cohabiting biological father households reported higher levels of parental attachment than their counterparts from cohabiting social father households

(mean difference = 0.231; p=.001). Children from cohabiting social father households also reported significantly lower levels of parental attachment than children from single-mother households (mean difference = -0.223; p=.000). Thus, children from cohabiting social father households had significantly lower levels of attachment than children from all other household types, with the exception of married social father households (although mean parental attachment was greater in married social father households, the mean difference was not significant). Given the considerably lower mean for social father attachment relative to maternal attachment and biological father attachment as previously shown in Table 3, it appears that lower levels of average parental attachment among children from social father households were largely attributable to weak attachment to social fathers.

Tukey's HSD test indicates that children from married biological father households possessed significantly higher levels of self-control than children from all other household structures. There were no significant mean differences in self-control between any other household structure pairings. This is consistent with the general overall trend illustrated by these ANOVAs and Tukey's HSD test comparisons: between-group differences in family processes and self-control by household structure (as indicated by ANOVAs) primarily reflected a distinction between families with married biological parents and all other household structures (as shown by pairwise comparisons in Tukey's HSD test).

Although children who live with married biological parents experienced different family processes and possess higher self-control, this series of one-way ANOVAs and Tukey's HSD tests cannot be used to determine whether differences in

self-control were due to differences in family processes. The relationships between household structure, family processes, and self-control may be mediated by other factors. For example, differences in family processes and self-control among children from married biological parent households may be due to socioeconomic advantages enjoyed by these families. Therefore, the results of multivariate analyses that reveal the simultaneous effects of household structure, family processes, and demographics on self-control are included later in this section.

T-tests by Gender

[Table 7 about here]

Table 7 includes mean values for self-control and family process variables by gender with corresponding t-test results. These t-test results indicate that males and females differed significantly in self-control and across all parenting measures. The significant mean differences for maternal monitoring and failure to recognize misbehavior reveal that parents supervised girls more closely and were more likely to recognize girls' misbehavior, as indicated by boys' higher levels of excessive television viewing. In addition, girls reported higher levels of parental attachment. Meanwhile, boys were more likely to be subjected to all forms of discipline—explanation, grounding, negative verbal punishment, and physical punishment.

Girls possessed significantly higher levels of self-control, based on maternal reports. As with ANOVA and Tukey's HSD test, this series of t-tests cannot be used to determine whether differences in self-control are due to differences in family processes, in spite of the significant mean differences by gender across all of these measures. Therefore, what follows are multivariate analyses that will reveal whether the relationships between gender, family processes, and self-control are mediated by other factors.

WLS regressions, full sample

[Table 8 about here]

Table 8 displays the results of a series of weighted least squares regression analyses for the full sample. To assess whether self-control varied by household structure and biological father contact, independently of demographic factors, in Model 1 self-control was regressed on four household structure dummy variables—cohabiting biological father, married social father, cohabiting social father, and single mother—and the biological father contact dummy variable, controlling for age, gender, race/ethnicity, mother's education, and family poverty. To determine whether any of the effects in Model 1 were mediated by family transitions, Model 2 was formed by adding measures of four family transition types—biological father exit, biological father entrance, social father exit, and social father entrance-to the variables included in Model 1. Similarly, to assess whether the cumulative number of family transitions (rather than specific types of transitions) mediated any of the effects in Model 1, Model 3 was formed by adding a measure of total family transitions to the variables included in Model 1. Models 4-6 are identical to Models 1-3, aside from the inclusion of several parenting variables: maternal monitoring, failure to recognize of misbehavior, explanation, grounding, negative verbal punishment, physical punishment, and attachment. This allows for the assessment of whether effects observed in Models 1-3 were mediated by parenting

practices in Models 4-6. In particular, Models 4-6 may help determine whether relationships between household structure and self-control or gender and self-control in Models 1-3 were explained by differences in parenting practices.

As shown in Table 8, the significant negative gender coefficients indicate that boys possess lower levels of self-control than girls. This relationship persisted across all models, indicating that parenting practices did not explain gender differences in selfcontrol. Several other demographic factors were significant predictors of children's selfcontrol across all models for the full sample. Hispanic ethnicity was a positive predictor of self-control, relative to Whites. Socioeconomic status played a role in the formation of self-control, independent of other factors: mother's college attendance was positively related to her child's self-control, while poverty was negatively related to self-control.

Of particular interest in this study is variation in self-control by household structure. In Models 1 and 4, all alternatives to married biological father households cohabiting biological father, married social father, cohabiting social father, and single mother—were significant negative predictors of self-control. This also held true in Models 3 and 6, when total family transitions were taken into account; however, when specific types of family transitions (Models 2 and 5) were considered, all household structures ceased to be significant, with the exception of cohabiting biological father households. Instead, in Models 2 and 5, two specific family transitions were significantly related to self-control: a biological father exit was negatively related to self-control, while a social father exit was positively related to self-control. This suggests that the relationships between social father and single-mother households and self-control were mediated by particular family transitions. Specifically, significantly

lower levels of self-control for social father and single-mother households in Models 1, 3, 4, and 6 may have largely been a product of biological father exits experienced by children in such households.

Biological father contact was positively related to children's self-control across all models for the full sample. Although cohabiting biological father household status was negatively related to self-control across all models, it should be noted that all children in such households had contact with a biological father. Thus, the inclusion of biological father contact as a separate dummy variable may have exaggerated the magnitude of the negative relationship between cohabiting biological father households and self-control. Although this would not offset the self-control gap between married and cohabiting biological father households, it may explain why cohabiting biological father household status remained significant in Models 2 and 5, whereas single-mother and both social father household types were no longer significant in those models.

As shown in Models 4-6, three measures of parenting practices were consistently significant predictors of self-control. As expected, maternal monitoring and parental attachment were positively related to self-control, while negative verbal discipline (shouting, yelling, screaming, swearing, or cursing) was negatively related to self-control. Nonetheless, these and other parenting practices did not fully mediate the relationship between family structure and self-control. Thus, the WLS regression models presented in Table 8 indicate that the significantly higher levels of self-control enjoyed by children from married biological parent households could not be fully explained by parenting practices or socioeconomic advantages.

WLS regressions, resident biological father households

[Table 9 about here]

Table 9 displays the results of a series of weighted least squares regression analyses for children in the sample with resident biological fathers. The six regression models for biological father households were structured in the same pattern as the full sample regression models, only with slight differences. Since all children in the sample who had a resident biological father also had a resident biological mother and no social father or non-resident biological father, it was feasible to examine maternal and paternal parenting practice measures as separate variables in this subgroup. This was less practical among other subgroups, in which respondents did not have an identical number of involved parents. For example, children in social father households varied in biological father contact, so examining practices by individual parent would have led either to the exclusion of children without involved non-resident biological fathers or a failure to include the parenting practices of non-resident fathers. Another difference from the full sample analyses was the exclusion of variables pertaining to social father household structures and the biological father contact dummy variable (all children living with a biological father had biological father contact, thus making the variable unnecessary for analyses of this subgroup). Furthermore, every child in this subgroup who experienced a social father entrance also experienced a social father exit (since the child and his/her mother now live with the biological father), thus making separate social father entrance and exit dummy variables redundant. Instead, such social father entrances and exits were represented by a single dummy variable for the biological father household subgroup.

As shown in Table 9, gender was not significant in any of the six models, indicating that there was no difference in self-control by gender among children residing with biological fathers. Only two demographic variables were significant predictors of children's self-control across all models for biological father households: family poverty and African-American. As with the full sample, family poverty was a consistent negative predictor of self-control; however, mother's education was not significant in any of the six weighted regression models for biological father households. African-American children in this subgroup possessed significantly lower levels of self-control than White children, independent of other demographic factors and parenting practices, across all models. Age was a significant positive predictor of selfcontrol in Models 1-3, indicating that older children have higher levels of self-control; however, the relationship between age and self-control appeared to be mediated by parenting practices in Models 4-6.

The cohabiting biological father dummy variable split the biological father household subgroup into two categories: those living with cohabiting biological fathers, and those residing with married biological fathers. The significant negative coefficient of the cohabiting biological father dummy variable across all models indicates that children who live with married biological parents had a self-control advantage that was not fully mediated by differences in parenting practices, family transitions, or demographics.

Model 2 in Table 9 indicates that both types of biological father transitions were significant predictors of self-control: a biological father exit was positively related to self-control, whereas a biological father entrance was negatively related to self-control.

Only the biological father entrance dummy variable remained significant after the addition of parenting practices in Model 5. It should be noted that a biological father entrance, as coded in the current study, only occurred when the biological father resided with the child and biological mother after not doing so in a previous wave. If the biological father lived with the mother and child at birth, this was not coded as an entrance. Meanwhile, any biological father exit experienced by a child in this subgroup was accompanied by one of two possibilities: 1) the child experienced two biological father entrances after birth (one entrance prior to the exit, and one entrance following the exit), or 2) the child resided with the father at birth (this is not counted as an entrance), then the father exited and later returned. In either case, every biological father exit was accompanied by an entrance in this subgroup (also, since each specific transition was measured by a dummy variable, there was no difference between one and two biological father entrances); however, the converse is not true. If a biological father did not live with the child and mother at birth but later moved into the same household without subsequently exiting, this was simply an entrance without an exit. Perhaps most importantly, if a child lived with his/her biological father at Wave 5 (the current point of analysis for this study) and had never experienced a biological father entrance, this indicates that the child had lived continuously with his/her biological father at since birth. Thus, the negative relationship between biological father entrances and selfcontrol may be indicative of an advantage experienced by children who always resided with their biological fathers.

Maternal monitoring (the only version of parental monitoring available in the study) was a significant positive predictor of self-control across Models 4-6. Likewise,

both maternal and paternal attachment were consistent positive predictors of self-control in biological father households; however, no additional maternal parenting variables were significant, while two other paternal parenting variables—explanation and negative verbal discipline—were significant in Models 4-6. As expected, negative verbal discipline from a biological father was associated with lower self-control; however, the WLS regression results indicated that children whose biological fathers explained why they did something wrong also had lower self-control. Nonetheless, differences in parenting practices did not fully explain why children who lived with married biological parents possessed higher self-control than those who resided with cohabiting biological parents.

WLS regressions, social father households

[Table 10 about here]

Table 10 displays the results of a series of weighted least squares regression analyses for children in the sample with resident social fathers. The six regression models for social father households were structured in the same pattern as the full sample and biological father households, with slight differences. Since all children in the sample who had a resident social father experienced at least one social father entrance, the social father entrance dummy variable was excluded. Another difference from the resident biological father analyses is that the social father household models included the biological father contact dummy variable, which indicated whether the child had seen his/her non-resident biological father in the previous year. Children in social father households with involved non-resident biological fathers had three sets of parenting measures for each form of discipline (explanation, grounding, negative verbal, and physical) and attachment—for the social father and both biological parents—while those without an involved biological father only had two sets of parenting measures. Therefore, composite parental variables were employed for each form of discipline and attachment in order to allow for comparisons between children with different numbers of involved parents, as previously explained in the methods section.

As shown in Table 10, gender was a significant predictor of self-control among children with resident social fathers, with boys possessing lower levels of self-control. This gender difference was not mediated by parenting practices. Three other demographic variables were significant predictors of children's self-control across all models for social father households: African-American, mother's education, and poverty. African-American children have higher levels of self-control than Whites. Mother's education was positively related to self-control, while family poverty was negatively related to self-control. The Hispanic dummy variable was a significant positive predictor of self-control only in Models 4-6, when parenting practices were taken into account. This suggests that White children may benefit more than Hispanics from parenting practices with respect to the development of self-control, as the gap between the two groups was non-significant when parenting practices were not included in the model.

The cohabiting social father dummy variable split the social father household subgroup into two categories: children living with cohabiting social fathers, and those

residing with married social fathers. All six regression models indicate there was no significant difference in children's self-control between these two groups.

Models 2 and 5 in Table 10 indicate that a social father exit was a significant positive predictor of self-control. It should be noted that among this social father household subgroup, every child with a social father exit had experienced at least two social father entrances (the entrance of the social father who exited, plus the entrance of the social father present at Wave 5). This added degree of instability makes the strong positive relationship between social father exits and self-control surprising.

Two parenting measures—failure to recognize misbehavior and parental attachment—were consistent predictors of self-control across Models 4-6 in Table 10. Parental attachment was a significant positive predictor of self-control, while the significant negative coefficients for failure to recognize misbehavior indicate that children in social father households who engaged in excessive television viewing had significantly lower levels of self-control. Two other parenting measures were significant in Model 4: negative verbal discipline was a negative predictor of self-control, while physical discipline was unexpectedly a positive predictor of self-control. However, the inclusion of family transition measured in Models 5 and 6 rendered these practices statistically insignificant. Although there were no differences between cohabiting and married social father households, it was noteworthy that parenting practices—which included measures for non-resident biological fathers—did not mediate the relationship between non-resident biological father contact and self-control.

WLS regressions, single-mother households

[Table 11 about here]

Table 11 displays the results of a series of weighted least squares regression analyses for children in the sample who live with single mothers. Since all children in this subgroup who experienced a social father entrance must have also experienced a social father exit (thus resulting in a single-mother household by Wave 5), there was a single dummy variable indicating whether the child had experienced both a social father entrance and exit. The single-mother household models included the biological father contact dummy variable, which indicated whether the child had a contact with a nonresident biological father in the previous year. Children in single-mother households with non-resident biological father contact had two sets of parenting measures for each form of discipline (explanation, grounding, negative verbal, and physical) and attachment—for both biological parents—while those without an involved biological father only had one set of parenting measures. Therefore, composite parental variables were employed for each form of discipline and attachment in order to allow for comparisons between children with different numbers of involved parents.

As shown in Table 11, gender was not significant in any of the six models, indicating that there was no difference in self-control by gender among children residing in single-mother households. Three demographic variables were significant predictors of children's self-control across all models for single-mother households: African-American, Hispanic, and mother's education. African-American and Hispanic children in single-mother households had significantly higher levels of self-control than Whites. Mother's education was again positively related to self-control; however,

poverty was not significant in any of the six regression models for single-mother households.

A biological father exit was a significant negative predictor of self-control in Model 2; however, this relationship was mediated by parenting practices in Model 5. This suggests that the lower level of self-control associated with biological father exits was due to lower quality parenting practices in these particular single-mother households. Meanwhile, Models 2 and 5 in Table 11 indicate that the combination of a social father exit and entrance was a significant positive predictor of self-control. Once again, biological father contact had a strong positive relationship with children's selfcontrol across all models.

Four parenting measures—maternal monitoring, failure to recognize misbehavior, negative verbal discipline, and physical discipline—were consistent predictors of self-control across Models 4-6 in Table 11. As expected, maternal monitoring was a positive predictor of self-control, while both negative verbal and physical discipline were associated with lower self-control; however, the positive coefficients for failure to recognize misbehavior indicate that children in single-mother households who engaged in excessive television viewing actually had higher levels of self-control. Parental explanation was a positive predictor of self-control in Models 5 and 6.

Chapter 8: Discussion and Conclusion

The current study produced a number of findings regarding the role of the family in developing self-control. In this chapter, the most notable results are synthesized. This is followed by a discussion of the study's limitations, policy implications, and directions for future research.

Household Structure and Self-Control

One-way ANOVA revealed that all family processes and self-control varied significantly by household structure. Tukey's HSD test shed light on the ANOVA results by indicating which household pairs contributed to significant between-group differences for self-control and each of the family process variables. Pairwise comparisons of each of the five household structure types—married biological father, cohabiting biological father, married social father, cohabiting social father, single mother—across seven family process measures and self-control resulted in 80 pairwise combinations, of which 23 yielded significant differences. Most notably, 18 of the 23 (78%) significant mean differences involved married biological father households, despite such households only being involved in 40% of all pairwise comparisons. Thus, Tukey's HSD test indicates that there is a clear delineation between married biological father households and all other family arrangements. Married biological father households were significantly more likely than one or more other household types to recognize misbehavior (lower scores correspond to higher recognition of misbehavior), explain to their children why something the child did was wrong, and ground their children for deviant behavior. In addition, children from married biological father

households reported significantly higher levels of attachment to their parents compared to their peers from all other households. Unexpectedly, children from married biological father households were more likely to have experienced negative verbal and physical discipline than those from one or more other household types. In spite of those two disciplinary practices that one would expect to produce lower self-control, children from married biological father households possessed significantly higher levels of selfcontrol. The results of Tukey's HSD test provide strong support for the hypotheses that children who live with married biological parents receive higher-quality parenting and enjoy higher levels of self-control than children from other households.

WLS regression analyses for the full sample provided additional evidence of the advantaged status of children from married biological father households. In four of the six regression models (Table 8), dummy variables for all other household types were significant negative predictors of self-control. Only in Models 2 and 5—which controlled for specific types of family transitions—did social father and single-mother household structures cease to be significantly related to self-control, although the significant negative relationship between cohabiting biological father households and self-control persisted in all models. The relationship between household structure and self-control for households without biological fathers (married and cohabiting social father exit was a significant positive predictor of self-control while a biological father exits and self-control was unexpected, as it was anticipated that such a transition would be neither particularly beneficial nor harmful. Conversely, the negative relationship

between a biological father exit and self-control is consistent with the body of research highlighting the negative impact of biological father exits on children's outcomes. Models 2 and 5 in the full sample regression analyses (Table 8) suggest that the relative disadvantage experienced by households without resident biological fathers is partly due to biological father exits, rather than an inherent disadvantage in these alternative household structures.

In the full sample WLS regression analyses, the relationships between household structure and self-control persisted, even after accounting for parenting practices. The gap in self-control by household structure is consistent with Gottfredson and Hirschi's theory; however, differences in parenting practices do not sufficiently explain this gap, contrary to Gottfredson and Hirschi's assertions. The self-control advantage enjoyed by children from married biological parent household exists independently of parenting practices, family transitions, and demographic factors

A comparison of biological father households was conducted to determine whether differences in self-control exist between married and cohabiting biological parent households. Tukey's HSD test indicated that children residing with married biological parents had significantly higher self-control than those living with cohabiting biological parents, and this was supported by WLS regression analyses of biological father households (Table 9). Children living with cohabiting biological parents possessed significantly lower levels of self-control across all models. Family transitions partially mediated the relationship between household structure and self-control in biological father households, with a biological father exit as a significant positive predictor of self-control (only in Model 2, as this was mediated by parenting practices

in Model 5) and a biological father entrance as a negative predictor of self-control. As previously addressed in the reporting of results, these seemingly backward results were related to coding nuances for this comparison group. Among the biological father household subgroup, children who did not experience a biological father entrance were ones who had lived with their biological fathers since birth. Thus, in this particular subgroup comparison, a biological father entrance was negatively related to self-control because it indicated a disadvantage for children who had not continuously lived with their fathers since birth. Meanwhile, the positive coefficient of the biological father exit dummy variable in Model 2 of the biological father household comparison (Table 9) is misleading because every biological father exit was followed by a biological father entrance in this subgroup. For this particular comparison group, experiencing both a biological father entry and exit may have had a more positive effect on self-control than just an entrance because the former indicated that the child resided with the father at birth or an early age and potentially resided with his/her father for a longer period of time, compared to a child whose father only entered the household at some point after the child's birth. As with the full sample comparison, the biological father household comparison confirmed that children residing with married biological parents possessed significantly higher levels of self-control, independent of parenting practices, family transitions, and demographic factors.

As hypothesized, Tukey's HSD test indicated that there was no significant difference in children's self-control between cohabiting and married social father households. This was substantiated in WLS regression analyses of social father households, which revealed no significant differences in self-control between

cohabiting and married social father households. The social father exit dummy variable was a significant positive predictor of self-control in both Models 2 and 5 of the social father household comparison (Table 10). In this subgroup, all children who experienced a social father exit also experienced multiple social father entrances. Thus, these results suggest that children in social father households who experienced multiple social father entrances (and at least one exit) possessed higher levels of self-control than those who only experienced a single social father entrance with no exit; however, this should be interpreted cautiously, as multiple social father entrances occurred in only 50 cases in the entire sample. While there was no appreciable difference between married and cohabiting social father households, non-resident biological father contact was a significant positive predictor of self-control for children in these households.

Consistent with the full sample and social father household regression analyses, biological father contact was significantly related to self-control among children residing in single-mother households, independent of parenting practices, family transitions, and demographic factors. Specific family transitions were also significantly related to self-control in the single-mother household subgroup. A biological father exit was a significant negative predictor of self-control in Model 2 (Table 11), although this relationship was mediated by parenting practices in Model 5, suggesting that biological father exits may be associated with decreases in parenting quality. A social father entrance and exit was a significant positive predictor of self-control for children in single-mother households. This is consistent with the full sample and social father household regression analyses, in which social father exits were significantly related to self-control.

These results indicate that children who live with married biological parents possess significantly higher levels of self-control. Meanwhile, children in other household types—cohabiting biological father, married or cohabiting social father, single mother—are disadvantaged with respect to self-control. For children with nonresident biological fathers, contact with a biological father is crucial to the development of self-control. Living with an unmarried biological father does not confer any additional advantage, as children residing with cohabiting biological fathers fare similarly to those with non-resident fathers.

Cherlin (2004) has argued that the major benefit of marriage is that it provides an "enforceable trust," as marriage requires a long-term public commitment, whereas cohabitation involves a private commitment that is easier to break. Marriage allows parents to make "relationship-specific investments in the couple's children investments of time and effort that...would not be easily portable to another intimate relationship" (p. 855). This enforceable trust—the dynamics of which were not fully captured within this study's measures—may help explain why the children of married biological parents enjoy higher levels of self-control than children from other household structures.

Parenting and Self-Control

The results of the WLS regression analyses provide mixed support for Gottfredson and Hirschi's parenting model. No parenting measure was a significant predictor of self-control across all models of every comparison. Maternal monitoring was a significant positive predictor of self-control across all models for every household

comparison, with the exception of social father households. Parental attachment was a consistent positive predictor of self-control, with the exception of single-mother households. Negative verbal discipline was a significant negative predictor of self-control across all models for every household comparison, except social father households (negative verbal discipline was significant in Model 4 only); in biological father households, paternal negative discipline was significant, but maternal negative discipline was not. These results provide strong support for Gottfredson and Hirschi's arguments that monitoring and attachment are critical to the development of self-control, while harsh verbal discipline is antithetical to that goal.

Results were far less consistent with respect to other parenting practices. Failure to recognize misbehavior was significant only in social father and single-mother households, but in opposite directions: excessive television viewing was associated with lower self-control in social father households and higher self-control in single-mother households. Perhaps Gottfredson and Hirschi's example of failure to recognize misbehavior is an outdated and dubious measure; alternatively, watching many hours of television may be less of a problematic behavior for children from single-mother households, where more opportunities for unsupervised misbehavior may arise. As previously mentioned, researchers have had more difficulty measuring recognition of misbehavior than other aspects of Gottfredson and Hirschi's parenting model.

Explanation of misbehavior was significantly related to self-control in biological father and single-mother households, but in opposite directions: paternal explanation was negatively related to self-control in biological households, while parental explanation was positively related to self-control in Models 5 and 6 among the single-

mother household subgroup. One possibility for the unexpected negative relationship between parental explanation and self-control—and for the statistically insignificant relationship in most other instances—is that the explanation variable may have tapped into actual levels of misbehavior. In other words, paternal explanation was not causing lower self-control; rather, it was measuring misbehavior that resulted from lower selfcontrol.

Physical punishment was a positive predictor of self-control in Model 4 of the social father household subgroup comparison; however, it was not significant in Models 5 and 6. Furthermore, given the small size of the social father household group (n=461), this finding should be interpreted cautiously. On the other hand, physical punishment was a consistent negative predictor of self-control in single-mother households. The latter is consistent with Gottfredson and Hirschi's theory. Grounding had no effect on self-control.

The findings of this study with respect to parenting practices and self-control were comparable to previous research. Monitoring and attachment were predictors of self-control more consistently than other aspects of parenting. Recognition of misbehavior is rarely measured, thus presenting little basis for comparison. The various types of discipline produced mixed results, with only harsh verbal discipline producing the expected effect on a fairly consistent basis.

Gender and Self-Control

Previous research has consistently shown that males possess substantially lower levels of self-control than females. This was supported by a t-test and WLS regression analyses for the full sample and social father households; however, gender was not a significant predictor of self-control for children residing with social fathers or single mothers.

Consistent with previous research, t-test results indicated that girls possessed significantly higher levels of self-control. T-tests also showed that boys and girls were subjected to different parenting practices. As expected, girls experienced higher-quality parenting, with respect to higher levels of maternal monitoring, recognition of misbehavior, and parental attachment; however, boys were more likely to experience all forms of discipline, including those expected to be helpful (explanation, grounding) and harmful (negative verbal and physical punishment).

Self-control differed by gender in WLS regression analyses for the full sample and social father households; however, as predicted, parenting practices did not mediate the relationship between gender and self-control in these comparisons. Unexpectedly, gender was not a significant predictor of self-control for children residing with biological fathers or single mothers. These results present a complex portrait of the relationship between gender and self-control. The social father household results indicate that when a gender gap in self-control exists, it extends beyond differences in parenting practices, yet the gap is non-existent in biological father and single-mother households, even when controlling for few other factors. This suggests that there are factors beyond the scope of this study that mediate gender differences in self-control. Perhaps boys and girls in social father households are subjected to different socialization practices that were not captured by the family process variables in the current study.

Demographics and Self-Control

Both socioeconomic indicators-mother's education and family poverty-were significantly related to self-control across most models. Mother's completion of some college was a positive predictor of self-control in all six models of every series of regression analyses, with the exception of the comparison of biological father households. This suggests that mother's education plays a less pivotal role in households in which both biological parents are present. Although no measure of father's education was included in the current study due to a large number of nonparticipants in the Wave V father's survey, it is possible that father's education may mitigate the impact of mother's education for a child residing with both biological parents. Family poverty was a significant negative predictor of self-control in all six models of every series of regression analyses, with the exception of the comparison of single-mother households. In most models, living in a household below 100 percent of the poverty threshold was associated with significantly lower levels of self-control; however, family poverty was not significantly related to self-control in any regression analyses for single-mother households. Given the financial disadvantage often associated with such households, one possible explanation is that a large share of singlemothers above the poverty line only marginally cleared this threshold, thus making the poverty threshold a less meaningful line of demarcation for this subgroup.

Analyses produced inconsistent results with respect to race and ethnicity by household structure. Hispanic children possessed significantly higher levels of selfcontrol than Whites in all models in the full sample and single-mother household

comparison as well as Models 4-6 of the social father household comparison; however, there was no significant difference between Hispanics and Whites in biological father households. Meanwhile, household comparisons produced contradictory results for African Americans, who had significantly lower self-control than Whites in biological father households and higher self-control than Whites in social father and single-mother households. Though it is unclear why different household structures would produce opposite trends, there is a notable trend: Whites fare better than Blacks and as well as Hispanics in biological father households but worse in other households, which is consistent with research indicating that family disruption has more negative consequences for Whites than for African Americans and Hispanics (McLanahan and Sandefur 1994).

Limitations

Fragile Families, as a large, national study with an explicit focus on young children and their families, is well-designed for an examination of family structures, parenting processes, and children's well-being; however, as with any large-scale, multi-wave study, respondent attrition is inevitable. Fragile Families included a sample of 4,898 children at the baseline wave of data collection; however, nearly 1,500 of these children did not participate in Wave V—the primary focus of the current study. More than 200 mothers who did not live with their children all or most of the time at Wave V were not included in the current study. Coupled with the dropping of cases with missing responses on key variables and those with unknown or deceased biological fathers, the current study's working sample of 2,678 includes only 55 percent of the Fragile

Families baseline sample. Although this is still a large sample by most standards, the design of the current study required the division of the sample into several smaller groups by household type. Most notably, the working sample only included 198 married social father households and 263 cohabiting social father households. Thus, as previously noted, the analyses of social father households should be interpreted with caution.

An issue with this longitudinal data set is that even in the working sample, there were cases in which families skipped one or more collection waves. This may have resulted in an undercounting of family transitions.

Due to the construction of the parenting discipline measures as dummy variables in the current study, they did not capture the frequency with which these practices were employed. In terms of the impact on a child's development, a mother yelling at a child less than once a month is probably not equivalent to yelling at a child every day; however, the Likert-type scales for such items are problematic in a study examining links between parenting practices and self-control (the latter measured by problem behavior). For example, explaining to a child why he/she did something wrong is a positive parenting practice, in theory; however, if this occurs every day, it may be indicative of frequent behavioral problems. This may lead to the faulty conclusion that frequently explaining to a child why he/she did something wrong leads to low selfcontrol. An alternate method would be to measure parenting practices at an earlier wave (i.e. Wave IV) to assess their impact on self-control at Wave V, but this is problematic in several ways. For one, non-respondents in Wave IV would have to be dropped from the current analysis. Also, all waves prior to Wave V only include self-reported

measures of parenting practices from one parent per child (usually the mother), providing fewer and less objective measures than the child-reported measures in Wave V. While the dummy variables measuring parental discipline methods are not ideal, they are arguably less problematic than other alternatives.

As previously noted in the methodology section, the father contact variable was not a precise measure of father involvement, as it captured neither the frequency nor the quality of father-son interactions. Nonetheless, the impact of this crude measure on children's self-control suggests that dynamic measures of father involvement may produce even more robust findings.

Although mediating effects were inferred in the stepwise regression analyses, no formal tests for mediation were conducted (i.e., Baron and Kenny's procedure). Such mediation analyses may reveal direct and indirect effects between family structure, parenting practices, and self-control that were not captured in the current study.

In spite of these limitations, this research provides a more detailed examination of household structure, parenting, and self-control than previous studies, thanks to the scope and detail of the Fragile Families data set.

Policy Implications

Family researchers have consistently found that household structure matters, with children from "traditional," married biological parent families faring better than their peers across a wide range of outcomes. The current study adds to that body of research by illustrating how self-control—a concept linked to numerous outcomes, both criminal and non-criminal, in criminological research—varies by household structure.

The disadvantage experienced by children in non-traditional households is particularly alarming in light of trends in marriage and family formation, as previously addressed in this dissertation. The findings of this study shed light on potential ways to address this gap in outcomes by household structure.

The majority of children nowadays will not spend the entirety of their childhoods living with married biological parents who stay together continuously. Rather than attempting to reverse a trend that is driven by powerful and dynamic economic and social forces, practical policies should be aimed at mitigating its consequences. The results of this study suggest that biological father contact is critical to minimizing the disadvantage experienced by children who do not live with their biological fathers. Thus, efforts to promote non-resident father involvement would be beneficial to children who do not live with married biological parents. Gottfredson and Hirschi suggest parenting programs to instill effective child-rearing techniques in the parents of young children, and the findings of this study indicate that refining parenting methods may contribute to the development of self-control; however, this study shows that emphasis should also be placed on something as simple as the importance of father involvement. Though seemingly obvious, it may be necessary to reiterate this to parents who do not live together. A non-resident father can continue to play a pivotal role in a child's well-being beyond providing financial support.

Gottfredson and Hirschi argue that anti-poverty programs do not reduce crime because they do not address self-control, which is instead the product of effective parenting; however, in the current study, mother's education and household poverty were significantly related to children's self-control, independently of parenting

practices. Thus, contrary to Gottfredson and Hirschi's argument, the findings of this study suggests that reducing poverty would improve children's self-control. This is consistent with recent economic research linking increases in unearned household income with reductions in children's behavioral and emotional problems and boosts in conscientiousness and agreeableness (Akee et al. 2015)—personality traits that closely align with Gottfredson and Hirschi's concept of self-control. Furthermore, given the positive impact of mother's education on children's self-control, policies that directly or indirectly promote women's educational attainment—such as additional financial aid, child care subsidies, or flexible work schedules—are likely to benefit children as well.

Future Research

Even with this contribution, the self-control research literature is severely lacking in detailed examinations of household structure. In the rare instances that household structure is taken into consideration in tests of self-control theory, the household categories that are employed fail to reflect changes in the American family. The issue extends beyond self-control theory, as the family plays a central role in most criminological theories. The applicability of these theories cannot be assessed fully if growing categories of families—specifically, cohabiting households—are ignored in analyses.

The mixed gender-related results—with a gender gap in self-control existing in social father households but not biological father or single-mothers households—signal a need for additional examination of gender within self-control theory. They also highlight the importance of a more nuanced treatment of household structure.

The inconsistency of relationships between race/ethnicity and self-control by household structure highlights the need for further examination of racial/ethnic differences in the development of self-control. Future research should consider not only whether parenting practices differ by race/ethnicity, but also whether the effects of specific practices on self-control are uniform across all races and ethnicities, or if cultural differences produce interaction effects between race and parenting practices.

Previous research has indicated that Gottfredson and Hirschi's explanation for self-control development is incomplete, as differences in self-control often persist across various demographic factors. In the current study, socioeconomic status—as measured by family poverty and mother's education—had a direct effect on selfcontrol, independently of differences in parenting practices. Aside from simply confirming whether the relationship between socioeconomic status and self-control exists, future studies would provide us with a better understanding of the complexities of self-control formation if they shed light on why such a relationship exists. Understanding the processes by which disparities in self-control are produced will provide a better overall understanding of the concept, thereby leading to solutions that benefit all children.

Conclusion

This study answered several questions regarding the role of the family in the development of self-control. Parenting practices and self-control varied by household structure, yet differences in parenting practices did not fully explain disparities in self-control—contrary to the tenets of Gottfredson and Hirschi's self-control theory. In the

otherwise heavily explored terrain of self-control theory, the household comparisons included in the current study—particularly with respect to consideration of cohabitation—represent fairly uncharted territory. In confirming the advantaged status of children who live with married biological parents, this study highlights a flaw in criminological studies that lump married and cohabiting biological parent households into a single category. Though the results of the current study suggest that married and cohabiting social father households are similarly disadvantaged, ignoring these distinctions would ensure failure to uncover underlying dynamics that may differentiate these groups in future research.

This dissertation also explored the relationship between gender and self-control. Although previous studies have examined whether parenting practices mediate gender differences in self-control, none have done so within the context of such specific household categories. The unexpected gender-related findings of this study suggest that the relationship between gender and self-control may be even more complex than previously realized, signaling a need for more in-depth exploration of the topic.

This project attempted to reconcile the dissonance between treatments of family structure in the fields of sociology and criminology. Sociology of family scholars have identified and explained dramatic changes in the American family over the last several decades, yet criminologists—even when examining theories that trace causes of crime directly to the family—have largely overlooked this research. Likewise, criminologists may be well served to look to the ideas of gender scholars in generating potential explanations for the gender cap in criminal offending. A more interdisciplinary

approach by criminologists may unlock fresh perspectives and lead to a better understanding of the complex nature of crime.

References

- Akee, Randall, Emilia Simeonova, E. Jane Costello, and William Copeland. 2015.
 "Does Household Income Affect Child Personality Traits and Behaviors?" National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper No. 21562. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.nber.org/papers/w21562</u>.
- Allahverdipour, Hamid, Alireza Hidarnia, Anoushiravan Kazamnegad, Froug Shafii, Parviz Azad Fallah, and Azita Emami. 2006. "The Status of Self-Control and Its Relation to Drug Abuse-Related Behaviors among Iranian Male High School Students." *Social Behavior and Personality* 34 (4): 413-424.
- Amato, Paul R. 2005. "The Impact of Family Formation Change on the Cognitive, Social, and Emotional Well-Being of the Next Generation." *The Future of Children* 15 (2): 75-96.
- Amato, Paul R. and Joan G. Gilberth. 1999. "Nonresident Fathers and Children's Well-Being: A Meta-Analysis." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 61 (3): 557-573.
- Arneklev, Bruce J., Harold G. Grasmick, Charles R. Tittle, and Robert J. Bursik, Jr. 1993. "Low Self-Control and Imprudent Behavior." *Journal of Quantitative Criminology* 9 (3): 225-247.
- Axinn, William G. and Arland Thornton. 2000. "The Transformation in the Meaning of Marriage." In *The Ties That Bind: Perspective on Marriage and Cohabitation*, edited by Linda J. Waite. New York: Aldine de Gruyter.
- Baron, Stephen W. 2003. "Self-Control, Social Consequences, and Criminal Behavior: Street Youth and the General Theory of Crime." *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency* 40 (4): 403-425.
- Bass, Loretta E. and M. Nicole Warehime. 2011. "Family Structure and Child Health Outcomes in the United States." *Sociological Inquiry* 81 (4): 527-548.
- Beaver, Kevin M. 2008. "Non-Shared Environmental Influences on Adolescent Delinquent Involvement and Adult Criminal Behavior." *Criminology* 46 (2): 341-370.
- Beaver, Kevin M. 2011. "The Effects of Genetics, the Environment, and Low Self-Control on Perceived Maternal and Paternal Socialization: Results from a Longitudinal Sample of Twins." *Journal of Quantitative Criminology* 27 (1): 85-105.
- Beck, Audrey N., Carey E. Cooper, Sara McLanahan, and Jeanne Brooks-Gunn. 2010. "Partnership Transitions and Maternal Parenting." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 72 (2): 219-233.

- Bennett, Patrick, Marta Elliott, and Danya Peters. 2005. "Classroom and Family Effects on Children's Social and Behavioral Problems." *The Elementary School Journal* 105 (5): 461-480.
- Berger, Lawrence M. 2007. "Socioeconomic Factors and Substandard Parenting." Social Service Review 81 (3): 485-522.
- Berger, Lawrence M., Marcia J. Carlson, Sharon H. Bzostek, and Cynthia Osborne. 2008. "Parenting Practices of Resident Fathers: The Role of Marital and Biological Ties." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 70 (3): 625-639.
- Berger, Lawrence M. and Callie E. Langton. 2011. "Young Disadvantaged Men as Fathers." *Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 635 (1): 56-75.
- Berger, Lawrence M. and Sara S. McLanahan. 2015. "Income, Relationship Quality, and Parenting: Associations with Child Development in Two-Parent Families." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 77 (4): 996-1015.
- Bianchi, Suzanne M. 2014. "A Demographic Perspective on Family Change." *Journal* of Family Theory & Review 6 (1): 35-44.
- Boisvert, Danielle, Jamie Vaske, Justine Taylor, and John P. Wright. 2012. "The Effects of Differential Parenting on Sibling Differences in Self-Control and Delinquency Among Brother-Sister Pairs." *Criminal Justice Review* 37 (1): 5-23.
- Boisvert, Danielle, John Paul Wright, Valerie Knopik, and Jamie Vaske. 2013. "A Twin Study of Sex Differences in Self-Control." *Justice Quarterly* 30 (3): 529-559.
- Boutwell, Brian B. and Kevin M. Beaver. "The Intergenerational Transmission of Low Self-Control." *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency* 47 (2): 174-209.
- Brauer, Jonathan R., Charles R. Tittle, Olena Antonaccio, and M. Zakiul Islam. 2012. "Childhood Experiences and Self-Control." *Deviant Behavior* 33 (5): 375-392.
- Brannigan, Augustine, William Gemmell, David J. Pevalin, and Terrance J. Wade.
 2002. "Self-Control and Social Control in Child Misconduct and Aggression: The Role of Family Structure, Hyperactivity, and Hostile Parenting." *Canadian Journal of Criminology* 44 (2) : 119-142.
- Brown, Susan L. 2004. "Family Structure and Child Well-Being: The Significance of Parental Cohabitation." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 66 (2): 351-367.
- Brown, Susan L. 2006. "Family Structure Transitions and Adolescent Well-Being." *Demography* 43 (3): 447-461.

- Brown, Susan L. 2010. "Marriage and Child Well-Being: Research and Policy Perspectives." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 72 (5): 1059-1077.
- Brown, Susan L., Wendy D. Manning, and Krista K. Payne. 2016. "Family Structure and Children's Economic Well-Being: Incorporating Same-Sex Cohabiting Mother Families." *Population Research and Policy Review* 35 (1): 1-21.
- Bumpass, Larry L. R. Kelly Raley, and James A. Sweet. 1995. "The Changing Character of Stepfamilies Implications of Cohabitation and Nonmarital Childbearing." *Demography* 32 (3): 425-436.
- Burgess, Robert L. 1980 "Family Violence: Implications from Evolutionary Biology." In *Understanding Crime: Current Theory and Research*, edited by Travis Hirschi and Michael Gottfredson. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage Publications.
- Burton, Velmer S., Jr., Francis T. Cullen, T. David Evans, Leanne Fiftal Alarid, and R. Gregory Dunaway. 1998. "Gender, Self-Control, and Crime." *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency* 35: 123-147.
- Bzostek, Sharon H. 2008. "Social Fathers and Child Well-Being." *Journal of Marriage* and Family 70 (4): 950-961.
- Cancian, Maria and Daniel R. Meyer. 2014. "Testing the Economic Independence Hypothesis: The Effect of an Exogenous Increase in Child Support on Subsequent Marriage and Cohabition." *Demography* 51 (3): 857-880.
- Carlson, Marcia J. 2006. "Family Structure, Father Involvement, and Adolescent Behavioral Outcomes." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 68 (1): 137-154.
- Carlson, Marcia J. and Lawrence M. Berger. 2013. "What Kids Get from Parents: Packages of Parental Involvement across Complex Family Forms." *Social Science Review* 87 (2): 213-249.
- Cavanagh, Shannon E. and Paula Fomby. 2012. "Family Instability, School Context, and the Academic Careers of Adolescents." *Sociology of Education* 85 (1): 81-97.
- Chapple, Constance L., Trina L. Hope, and Scott W. Whiteford. 2005. "The Direct and Indirect Effects of Parental Bonds, Parental Drug Use, and Self-Control on Adolescent Substance Use." *Journal of Child & Adolescent Substance Abuse* 14 (3): 17-38.
- Chapple, Constance L. and Katherine A. Johnson. 2007. "Gender Differences in Impulsivity." *Youth Violence and Juvenile Justice* 5 (3): 221-234.

- Chapple, Constance L., Jamie Vaske, and Trina L. Hope. 2010. "Sex Differences in the Causes of Self-Control: An Examination of Mediation, Moderation, and Gendered Etiologies." *Journal of Criminal Justice* 38 (6): 1122-1131.
- Cherlin, Andrew. 2004. "The Deinstitutionalization of American Marriage." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 66 (4): 848-861.
- Cherlin, Andrew. 2009. *The Marriage-Go-Round: The State of Marriage and the Family in America*. New York: Alfred A. Knopf.
- Cherlin, Andrew. 2010. "Demographic Trends in the United States: A Review of Research in the 2000s." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 72 (3): 1-17.
- Clarke-Stewart, Alison and Cornelia Brentano. 2006. *Divorce: Causes and Consequences*. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Cochran, John K., Peter B. Wood, Christine S. Sellers, Wendy Wilkerson, and Mitchell B. Chamlin. 1998. "Academic Dishonesty and Low Self-Control: An Empirical Test of a General Theory of Crime." *Deviant Behavior* 19 (3): 227-255.
- Cohn, Ellen G. and David P. Farrington. 1999. "Changes in the Most-Cited Scholars in Twenty Criminology and Criminal Justice Journals Between 1990 and 1995." *Journal of Criminal Justice* 27 (4): 345-359.
- Cohn, Ellen G. and David P. Farrington. 2008. "Scholarly Influence in Criminology and Criminal Justice Journals in 1990-2000." *Journal of Criminal Justice* 36 (1): 11-21.
- Cohn, Ellen G. and David P. Farrington. 2012. "Scholarly Influence in Criminology and Criminal Justice Journals in 1990-2005." *Criminal Justice Review* 37 (3): 360-383.
- Edin, Kathryn and Joanna M. Reed. 2005. "Why Don't They Just Get Married? Barriers to Marriage Among the Disadvantaged." *The Future of Children* 15 (2): 117-137.
- Evans, T. David, Francis T. Cullen, Velmer S. Burton, Jr., R. Gregory Dunaway, and Michael L. Benson. 1997. "The Social Consequences of Self-Control: Testing the General Theory of Crime." *Criminology* 35 (3): 475-501.
- Fomby, Paula. 2013. "Family Instability and College Enrollment and Completion." *Population Research and Policy Review* 32 (4): 469-494.
- Fomby, Paula and Stacey J. Bosick. 2013. "Family Instability and the Transition to Adulthood." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 75 (5): 1266-1287.

- Gibbs, John J., Dennis Giever, and Jamie S. Martin. 1998. "Parental Management and Self-Control: An Empirical Test of Gottfredson and Hirschi's General Theory." *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency* 35 (1): 40-70.
- Gibson, Chris L., Christopher J. Sullivan, Shayne Jones, and Alex R. Piquero. 2010. "Does It Take a Village?' Assessing Neighborhood Influences on Children's Self-Control." *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency* 47 (1): 31-62.
- Glueck, Sheldon and Eleanor Glueck. 1950. *Unraveling Juvenile Delinquency*. New York: Commonwealth Fund.
- Gottfredson, Michael R. and Travis Hirschi. 1990. A General Theory of Crime. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.
- Grasmick, Harold G., Charles R. Tittle, Robert J. Bursik Jr., and Bruce J. Arneklev. 1993. "Testing the Core Empirical Implications of Gottfredson and Hirschi's General Theory of Crime." *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency* 30 (1): 5-29.
- Guajardo, Nicole R., Gregory Snyder, and Rachel Petersen. 2009. "Relationships among Parenting Practices, Parental Stress, Child Behaviour, and Children's Social-Cognitive Development." *Infant and Child Development* 18 (1): 37-60.
- Harknett, Kristen. 2009. "Why Are Children with Married Parents Healthier? The Case of Pediatric Asthma." *Population Research and Policy Review* 28 (3): 347-365.
- Hay, Carter. 2001. "Parenting, Self-Control, and Delinquency: A Test of Self-Control Theory." *Criminology* 39 (3): 707-736.
- Haynie, Dana L. 2001. "Delinquent Peers Revisited: Does Network Structure Matter?" *American Journal of Sociology* 106 (4): 1013-1057.
- Higgins, George E. and Richard Tewksbury. 2006. "Sex and Self-Control Theory: The Measures and Causal Model May Be Different." *Youth & Society* 37 (4): 479-503.
- Hirschi, Travis. 2004. "Self-Control and Crime." In *Handbook of Self-Regulation: Research, Theory, and Application*, edited by Roy F. Baumeister and Kathleen D. Vohs. New York: Guilford Press.
- Hirschi, Travis and Michael R. Gottfredson. 2005. "Punishment of Children from the Perspective of Control Theory." In *Corporal Punishment of Children in Theoretical Perspective*, edited by Michael Donnelly and Murray A. Straus. New Haven: Yale University Press.

- Hofferth, Sandra L. 2006. "Residential Father Family Type and Child Well-Being: Investment Versus Selection." *Demography* 43 (1): 53-77.
- Hognas, Robin S. and Jason R. Thomas. 2016. "Birds of a Feather Have Babies Together? Family Structure Homogamy and Union Stability Among Cohabiting Parents." *Journal of Family Issues* 37 (1): 29-52.
- Hope, Trina L. and Constance L. Chapple. 2005. "Maternal Characteristics, Parenting, and Adolescent Sexual Behavior: The Role of Self-Control." *Deviant Behavior* 26 (1): 25-45.
- Hope, Trina L., Harold G. Grasmick, and Laura J. Pointon. 2003. "The Family in Gottfredson and Hirschi's General Theory of Crime: Structure, Parenting, and Self-Control." *Sociological Focus* 36 (4): 291-311.
- Kalil, Ariel and Rebecca M. Ryan. 2010. "Mothers' Economic Conditions and Sources of Support in Fragile Families." *The Future of Children* 20 (2): 39-61.
- King, Valarie, Kathleen Mullan Harris, and Holly E. Heard. 2004. "Racial and Ethnic Diversity in Nonresident Father Involvement." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 66 (1): 1-21.
- LaGrange, Teresa C. and Robert A. Silverman. 1999. "Low Self-Control and Opportunity: Testing the General Theory of Crime as an Explanation of Gender Differences in Delinquency." *Criminology* 37 (1): 41-72.
- Lamidi, Esther. 2015a. "Marriage in the U.S.: Twenty-Five Years of Change, 1989-2014 (FP-15-17)." National Center for Family & Marriage Research. Retrieved from: https://www.bgsu.edu/ncfmr/resources/data/family-profiles/lamidi-25yrchange-marriage-US-1989-2014-fp-15-17.html.
- Lamidi, Esther. 2015b. "Trends in Cohabitation: The Never Married and Previously Married, 1995-2014 (FP-15-21)." National Center for Family & Marriage Research. Retrieved from: http://www.bgsu.edu/ncfmr/resources/data/familyprofiles/lamidi-cohab-trends-never-previously-married-fp-15-21.
- Langton, Callie E. and Lawrence M. Berger. 2011. "Family Structure and Adolescent Physical Health, Behavior, and Emotional Well-Being." *Social Service Review* 85 (3): 323-357.
- Latimore, T. Lorraine, Charles R. Tittle, and Harold G. Grasmick. 2006. "Childrearing, Self-Control, and Crime: Additional Evidence." *Sociological Inquiry* 76 (3): 343-371.

- Lee, Dohoon and Sara McLanahan. 2015. "Family Structure Transitions and Child Development: Instability, Selection, and Population Heterogeneity." *American Sociological Review* 80 (4): 738-763.
- Lewis, Jamie M. and Rose M. Kreider. 2015. "Remarriage in the United States." American Community Survey Reports, ACS-30. U.S. Census Bureau. Retrieved from: https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/Library/publications/2015/ acs/acs-30.pdf
- Longshore, Douglas, Eunice Chang, Shih-Chao Hsieh, and Nena Messina. 2004. "Self-Control and Social Bonds: A Combined Control Perspective on Deviance." *Crime and Delinquency* 50 (4): 542-564.
- Longshore, Douglas, Eunice Chang, and Nena Messina. 2005. "Self-Control and Social Bonds: A Combined Control Perspective on Juvenile Offending." *Journal of Quantitative Criminology* 21 (4): 419-437.
- Love, Sharon R. 2006. "Illicit Sexual Behavior: A Test of Self-Control Theory." Deviant Behavior 27 (5): 505-536.
- Magnuson, Katherine and Lawrence M. Berger. 2009. "Family Structure States and Transitions: Associations with Children's Well-Being during Middle Childhood." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 71 (3): 575-591.
- Manning, Wendy D. 2015. "Cohabitation and Child Wellbeing." *The Future of Children* 25 (2): 51-66.
- Manning, Wendy D., Susan L. Brown, and Bart Stykes. "Trends in Births to Single and Cohabiting Mothers, 1980-2013 (FP-15-03)." National Center for Family & Marriage Research." Retrieved from: https://www.bgsu.edu/content/dam/BGSU/ college-of-arts-and-sciences/NCFMR/documents/FP/FP-15-03-birth-trendssingle-cohabiting-moms.pdf.
- Manny, Wendy D. and Kathleen A. Lamb. 2003. "Adolescent Well-Being in Cohabiting, Married, and Single-Parent Families." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 65 (4): 876-893.
- Manning, Wendy D., Pamela J. Smock, and Debarun Majumdar. 2004. "The Relative Stability of Cohabiting and Marital Unions for Children." *Population Research and Policy Review* 23 (2): 135-159.
- Manning, Wendy D. and Bart Stykes. 2015. "Twenty-Five Years of Change in Cohabitation in the U.S., 1987-2013 (FP-15-01)." National Center for Family & Marriage Research." Retrieved from: https://www.bgsu.edu/content/dam/BGSU/ college-of-arts-and-sciences/NCFMR/documents/FP/FP-15-01-twenty-five-yrscohab-us.pdf.

- McCartan, Lisa M. and Elaine Gunnison. 2007. "Examining the Origins and Influence of Low Self-Control." *Journal of Crime and Justice* 30 (1): 35-62.
- McKee, Jesse R. 2012. "The Moderation Effects of Family Structure and Low Self-Control." *American Journal of Criminal Justice* 37 (3): 356-377.
- McLanahan, Sara and Gary Sandefur. 1994. Growing Up with a Single Parent: What Hurts, What Helps. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- McNamee, Catherine B. and R. Kelly Raley. 2011. "A Note on Race, Ethnicity, and Nativity Differentials in Remarriage in the United States." *Demographic Research* 24 (13): 293-312.
- Meldrum, Ryan C. 2008. "Beyond Parenting: An Examination of the Etiology of Self-Control." *Journal of Criminal Justice* 36 (3): 244-251.
- Mitchell, Colter, Sara McLanahan, John Hobcraft, Jeanne Brooks-Gunn, Irwin Garfinkel, and Daniel Notterman. 2015. "Family Structure Instability, Genetic Sensitivity, and Child Well-Being." *American Journal of Sociology* 120 (4): 1195-1225.
- Moon, Byongook, John D. McCluskey, David Blurton, and Hye-Won Hwang. 2014. "Parent and Teacher Practices as Sources of Low Self-Control: Evidence from Korea." Youth Violence and Juvenile Justice 12 (2): 167-187.
- Morris, Gregory D., Peter B. Wood, and R. Gregory Dunaway. 2007. "Testing the Cultural Invariance of Parenting and Self-Control as Predictors of American Indian Delinquency." *Western Criminology Review* 8 (1): 32-47.
- Nagin, Daniel S. and Raymond Paternoster. 1993. "Enduring Individual Differences and Rational Choice Theories of Crime." *Law and Society Review* 27 (3): 467-496.
- Nelson, Sandi, Rebecca L. Clark, and Gregory Acs. 2001. "Beyond the Two-Parent Family: How Teenagers Fare in Cohabiting Couple and Blended Families." New Federalism National Survey of America's Families, B-31. Washington, DC: Urban Institute.
- Nofziger, Stacey. 2008. "The 'Cause' of Low Self-Control." *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency* 45 (2): 191-224.
- Osborne, Cynthia, Wendy D. Manning, and Pamela J. Smock. 2007. "Married and Cohabiting Parents' Relationship Stability: A Focus on Race and Ethnicity." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 69 (5): 1345-1366.
- Osborne, Cynthia and Sara McLanahan. 2007. "Partnership Instability and Child Well-Being." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 69 (4): 1065-1083.

- Payne, Krista K. 2013. "Children's Family Structure, 2013 (FP-13-19)." National Center for Family & Marriage Research. Retrieved from: https://www.bgsu.edu/ content/dam/BGSU/college-of-arts-and-sciences/NCFMR/documents/FP/FP-13-19.pdf.
- Payne, Krista K. 2015. "The Remarriage Rate: Geographic Variation, 2013 (FP-15-08)." National Center for Family & Marriage Research. Retrieved from: http://www.bgsu.edu/ncfmr/resources/data/family-profiles/payne-remarriagerate-fp-15-08.html.
- Perrone, Dina, Christopher J. Sullivan, Travis C. Pratt, and Satenik Margaryan. 2004.
 "Parental Efficacy, Self-Control, and Delinquency: A Test of a General Theory of Crime on a Nationally Representative Sample of Youth." *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology* 48 (3): 298-312.
- Phythian, Kelli, Carl Keane, and Catherine Krull. 2008. "Family Structure and Parental Behavior: Identifying the Sources of Adolescent Self-Control." *Western Criminology Review* 9 (2): 73-87.
- Piquero, Alex R., Chris L. Gibson, and Stephen G. Tibbetts. 2002. "Does Self-Control Account for the Relationship Between Binge Drinking and Alcohol Related Behaviors?" *Criminal Behavior and Mental Health* 12 (2): 132-154.
- Piquero, Alex R., John MacDonald, Adam Dobrin, Leah E. Daigle, and Francis T. Cullen. 2005. "Self-Control, Violent Offending, and Homicide Victimization: Assessing the General Theory of Crime." *Journal of Quantitative Criminology* 21 (1): 55-71.
- Ponnet, Koen, Edwin Wouters, Dimitri Mortelmans, Inge Pasteels, Charlotte de Backer, Karla Wan Leeuwen, and Alain Van Hiel. 2013. "The Influence of Mothers' and Fathers' Parenting Stress and Depressive Symptoms on Own and Partner's Parent-Child Communication." *Family Process* 52 (2): 312-324.
- Pratt, Travis C., Michael G. Turner, and Alex R. Piquero. 2004. "Parental Socialization and Community Context: A Longitudinal Analysis of the Structural Sources of Low Self-Control." *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency* 41 (3): 219-243.
- Quisenberry, Phillip N. 2015. "Texting and Driving: Can It Be Explained by the General Theory of Crime?" *American Journal of Criminal Justice* 40 (2): 303-316.
- Raley, R. Kelly, Megan M. Sweeney, and Danielle Wondra. 2015. "The Growing Racial and Ethnic Divide in U.S. Marriage Patterns." *The Future of Children* 25 (2): 89-109.

- Ram, Bali and Feng Hou. 2003. "Changes in Family Structure and Child Outcomes: Roles of Economic and Familial Resources." *The Policy Studies Journal* 31 (3): 309-330.
- Schmeer, Kammi K. 2012. "Family Structure and Obesity in Early Childhood." *Social Science Research* 41 (4): 820-832.
- Schreck, Christopher J., Bonnie S. Fisher, and J. Mitchell Miller. 2004. "The Social Context of Violent Victimization: A Study of the Delinquent Peer Effect." *Justice Quarterly* 21 (1): 23-47.
- Shapiro, Danielle. 2014. "Stepparents and Parenting Stress: The Roles of Gender, Marital Quality, and Views about Gender Roles." *Family Process* 53 (1): 97-108.
- Simons, Ronald L., Leslie Gordon Simons, Yi-Fu Chen, Gene H. Brody, and Kuei-Hsiu Lin. 2007. "Identifying the Psychological Factors that Mediate the Association Between Parenting Practices and Delinquency." *Criminology* 45 (3): 481-517.
- Smock, Pamela, Wendy Manning, and Meredith Porter. 2005. "'Everything's There Except Money': How Money Shapes Decisions to Marry Among Cohabitors." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 67 (3): 680-696.
- Stykes, Bart and Karen Benjamin Guzzo. 2015. "Remarriage & Stepfamilies (FP-15-10)." National Center for Family & Marriage Research. Retrieved from: http://www.bgsu.edu/ncfmr/resources/data/family-profiles/stykes-guzzoremarriage-stepfamilies-fp-15-10.html.
- Sweeney, Megan M. 2002. "Two Decades of Family Change: The Shifting Economic Foundations of Marriage." *American Sociological Review* 67 (1): 132-147.
- Sweeney, Megan M. 2010. "Remarriage and Stepfamilies: Strategic Sites for Family Scholarship in the 21st Century." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 72 (3): 667-684.
- Teachman, Jay. 2008 "Complex Life Course Patterns and the Risk of Divorce in Second Marriages." *Journal of Marriage and Family* 70 (2): 294-305.
- Thijs, Paula E., Ingrid K. van Dijk, Robin Stoof, and Natascha Notten. 2015.
 "Adolescent Problem Behaviour: The Gender Gap in European Perspective." *European Journal of Criminology* 12 (5): 598-615.
- Thomson, Elizabeth and Sara S. McLanahan. 2012. "Reflections on 'Family Structure and Child Well-Being: Economic Resources vs. Parental Socialization."" *Social Forces* 91 (1): 45-53.

- Tittle, Charles R., David A. Ward, and Harold G. Grasmick. 2003. "Gender, Age, and Crime/Deviance." *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency* 40 (4): 426-453.
- United States Census Bureau. 2015. "Table MS-2. Estimated Median Age at First Marriage: 1890. Retrieved from: http://www.census.gov/hhes/families/files/ ms2.xls.
- Unnever, James D., Francis T. Cullen, and Travis C. Pratt. 2003. "Parental Management, ADHD, and Delinquent Involvement: Reassessing Gottfredson and Hirschi's General Theory." *Justice Quarterly* 20 (3): 471-500.
- Unnever, James D., Francis T. Cullen, and Robert Agnew. 2006. "Why is 'Bad' Parenting Criminogenic? Implications from Rival Theories." *Youth Violence and Juvenile Justice* 4 (1): 3-33.
- Vaughn, Michael G., Matt DeLisi, Kevin M. Beaver and John Paul Wright. 2009.
 "Identifying Latent Classes of Behavioral Risk Based on Early Childhood: Manifestations of Self-Control." Youth Violence and Juvenile Justice 7 (1): 16-31.
- Vazsonyi, Alexander T. and Lara M. Belliston. 2007. "The Family → Low Self-Control
 → Deviance: A Cross-Cultural and Cross-National Test of Self-Control Theory." Criminal Justice and Behavior 34 (3): 505-530.
- Waldfogel, Jane, Terry-Ann Craigie, and Jeanne Brooks-Gunn. 2010. "Fragile Families and Child Wellbeing." *The Future of Children* 20 (2): 87-112.
- Weinstein, Jay A. 2010. *Applying Social Statistics: An Introduction to Quantitative Reasoning in Sociology*. Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, Inc.
- Winfree, Thomas, Terrance J. Taylor, Ni He, and Finn-Aage Esbensen. 2006. "Self-Control and Variability Over Time: Multivariate Results Using a 5-Year, Multisite Panel of Youths." *Crime and Delinquency* 52 (2): 253-286.
- Wright, John, and Kevin Beaver. 2005. "Do Parents Matter in Creating Self-Control in Their Children? A Genetically Informed Test of Gottfredson and Hirschi's Theory of Low Self-Control." *Criminology* 43 (4): 1169-1202.
- Wright, John, Kevin Beaver, Matt Delisi, and Michael Vaughn. 2008. "Evidence of Negligible Parenting Influences on Self-Control, Delinquent Peers, and a Delinquency in a Sample of Twins." *Justice Quarterly* 25 (3): 544-569.

Appendix: Tables

| Table 1. Summary of Control Variables, N=2,678 | | |
|--|-------|--------------------|
| | Mean | Standard Deviation |
| Age | 9.272 | 0.356 |
| Gender (male = 1) | 0.528 | 0.499 |
| African American | 0.494 | 0.500 |
| Hispanic, non-African American | 0.311 | 0.463 |
| White and all others | 0.195 | 0.396 |
| Mother's education (some college or more $= 1$) | 0.578 | 0.494 |
| Family poverty (below poverty threshold = 1) | 0.359 | 0.478 |

Table 1. Summary of Control Variables, N=2,678

| Table 2. Failing Structure | ai labics, | 11-2,070 |
|------------------------------|------------|--------------------|
| | Mean | Standard Deviation |
| Household structure | | |
| Resident social father | 0.172 | 0.378 |
| Single mother | 0.396 | 0.489 |
| Married biological father | 0.331 | 0.471 |
| Cohabiting biological father | 0.101 | 0.302 |
| Married social father | 0.074 | 0.262 |
| Cohabiting social father | 0.098 | 0.298 |
| Father involvement | | |
| Biological father contact | 0.797 | 0.402 |
| Family transitions | | |
| Biological father exit | 0.386 | 0.487 |
| Biological father entrance | 0.212 | 0.409 |
| Social father exit | 0.108 | 0.310 |
| Social father entrance | 0.266 | 0.442 |
| Total family transitions | 0.998 | 1.047 |
| | | |

Table 2. Family Structure Variables, N=2,678

| | Mean | Standard Deviation |
|------------------------------------|-------|-----------------------|
| Maternal monitoring | 0.000 | 2.411 |
| Failure to recognize misbehavior | 0.309 | 0.459 |
| Parental discipline | | |
| Mother explanation | 0.859 | 0.348 |
| Mother grounding | 0.742 | 0.437 |
| Mother negative verbal | 0.597 | 0.491 |
| Mother physical | 0.507 | 0.492 |
| Biological father explanation* | 0.706 | 0.456 |
| Biological father grounding* | 0.508 | 0.500 |
| Biological father negative verbal* | 0.441 | 0.497 |
| Biological father physical* | 0.357 | 0.472 |
| Social father explanation** | 0.702 | 0.458 |
| Social father grounding** | 0.553 | 0.498 |
| Social father negative verbal** | 0.432 | 0.496 |
| Social father physical** | 0.263 | 0.434 |
| Parental explanation | 0.794 | 0.336 |
| Parental grounding | 0.643 | 0.394 |
| Parental negative verbal | 0.528 | 0.428 |
| Parental physical | 0.438 | 0.427 |
| Parental attachment | | |
| Mother attachment | 3.664 | 0.692 |
| Biological father attachment* | 3.357 | 0.955 |
| Social father attachment** | 3.071 | 0.999 |
| Parental attachment | 3.510 | 0.670 |

Table 3. Family Process Variables, N=2,678

*n=2,135

**n=461

| | Mean | Standard Deviatior |
|---|-------|-----------------------|
| Acts too young for his or her age | 2.683 | 0.507 |
| Fails to finish things he or she starts | 2.444 | 0.591 |
| Can't concentrate, can't pay attention for long | 2.443 | 0.657 |
| Can't sit still, is restless, or hyperactive | 2.498 | 0.664 |
| Cries a lot | 2.810 | 0.447 |
| Is cruel to animals | 2.963 | 0.237 |
| Is cruel, bullies, or shows meanness to others | 2.665 | 0.377 |
| Demands a lot of attention | 2.549 | 0.627 |
| Destroys things belonging to family or others | 2.841 | 0.399 |
| Destroys his or her own things | 2.836 | 0.426 |
| Is disobedient at home | 2.507 | 0.549 |
| Is disobedient at school | 2.713 | 0.488 |
| Doesn't get along with other kids | 2.831 | 0.407 |
| Doesn't seem to feel guilty after misbehaving | 2.770 | 0.476 |
| Gets hurt a lot or is accident-prone | 2.853 | 0.389 |
| Gets in many fights | 2.913 | 0.315 |
| Is impulsive or acts without thinking | 2.696 | 0.511 |
| Physically attacks people | 2.948 | 0.250 |
| Screams a lot | 2.799 | 0.456 |
| Is stubborn, sullen, or irritable | 2.658 | 0.529 |
| Has sudden changes in mood or feelings | 2.721 | 0.488 |
| Has temper tantrums or a hot temper | 2.681 | 0.547 |
| Threatens people | 2.954 | 0.231 |
| Is unusually loud | 2.766 | 0.491 |
| Whines | 2.556 | 0.572 |

Table 4. Self-Control Scale Items, N=2,678

| | Married Biological Father (n=886) | Cohabiting Biological Father (n=271) | Married Social Father (n=198) | Cohabiting Social Father (n=263) | Single Mother (n=1,060) | |
|--|--|---|--|---|-------------------------------|------------|
| | Mean (S.D.) | Mean (S.D.) | Mean (S.D.) | Mean (S.D.) | Mean (S.D.) | F |
| Maternal monitoring | -0.011 (2.274) | 0.164 (2.398) | 0.313 (2.250) | -0.345 (2.628) | -0.005 (2.489) | 2.507* |
| Failure to recognize misbehavior | 0.244 (0.426) | 0.305 (0.457) | 0.330 (0.467) | 0.394 (0.488) | 0.340 (0.471) | 8.166 *** |
| Parental explanation | 0.851 (0.302) | 0.810 (0.344) | 0.761 (0.324) | 0.721 (0.324) | 0.766 (0.356) | 12.040 *** |
| Parental grounding | 0.698 (0.391) | 0.655 (0.415) | 0.652 (0.333) | 0.569 (0.357) | 0.611 (0.404) | 8.543 *** |
| Parental negative verbal | 0.575 (0.435) | 0.520 (0.439) | 0.509 (0.402) | 0.492 (0.375) | 0.504 (0.434) | 4.115 ** |
| Parental physical | 0.454 (0.445) | 0.427 (0.445) | 0.432 (0.394) | 0.330 (0.321) | 0.455 (0.432) | 5.026 *** |
| Parental attachment | 3.648 (0.564) | 3.491 (0.716) | 3.400 (0.587) | 3.260 (0.689) | 3.484 (0.722) | 20.891 *** |
| Self-control | 2.830 (11.304) | -0.775 (15.137) | -0.694 (13.395) | -1.445 (15.155) | -1.680 (14.671) | 14.609 *** |

Table 5. One-Way ANOVA: Family Processes and Self-Control by HouseholdStructure, N=2,678

S.D. = standard deviation

*p<.05; **p<.01; ***p<.001

| Table 6. Tukey's HSD: Pairwise Comparisons of Family Processes and Self-Control by Household Structure, N=2,678 | / Processes and | Self-Control by | Household Strue | cture, N=2,678 |
|---|-------------------------------|---|--------------------------------|------------------------------|
| | <u>Maternal</u> monitoring | <u>Failure to</u> <u>recognize</u> <u>misbehavior</u> | <u>Parental</u> explanation | <u>Parental</u> grounding |
| | Mean Diff. | Mean Diff. | Mean Diff. | Mean Diff. |
| Married biological father vs. cohabiting biological father | -0.176 | -0.061 | 0.040 | 0.043 |
| Married biological father vs. married social father | -0.324 | -0.086 | 0:090** | 0.047 |
| Married biological father vs. cohabiting social father | 0.334 | -0.151*** | 0.129*** | 0.129^{***} |
| Married biological father vs. single mother | -0.006 | -0.096*** | 0.085*** | 0.087*** |
| Cohabiting biological father vs. married social father | -0.148 | -0.025 | 0.049 | 0.003 |
| Cohabiting biological father vs. cohabiting social father | 0.510 | -0.089 | 0.089* | 0.086 |
| Cohabiting biological father vs. single mother | 0.170 | -0.035 | 0.044 | 0.044 |
| Married social father vs. cohabiting social father | 0.658* | -0.065 | 0.398 | 0.082 |
| Married social father vs. single mother | 0.318 | -0.010 | -0.005 | 0.040 |
| Cohabiting social father vs. single mother | -0.340 | 0.054 | -0.044 | -0.042 |

2 ויט רויין ł 2 ç d Colf il. D. ľ. č F K Tul Table

| Table 6. Tukey's HSD: Pairwise Comparisons of Family Processes and Self-Control by Household Structure, N=2,678 (continued) | ily Processes and (continued) | Self-Control by | Household Stru | cture, N=2,678 |
|---|------------------------------------|-----------------------------|-------------------------------|----------------|
| | <u>Parental</u> negative verbal | <u>Parental</u> physical | <u>Parental</u> attachment | Self-control |
| | Mean Diff. | Mean Diff. | Mean Diff. | Mean Diff. |
| Married biological father vs. cohabiting biological father | 0.055 | 0.027 | 0.157^{**} | 3.605** |
| Married biological father vs. married social father | 0.066 | 0.023 | 0.247*** | 3.525** |
| Married biological father vs. cohabiting social father | 0.083* | 0.124*** | 0.387*** | 4.275*** |
| Married biological father vs. single mother | 0.071** | -0.001 | 0.164^{***} | 4.510^{***} |
| Cohabiting biological father vs. married social father | 0.011 | -0.005 | 0.091 | -0.081 |
| Cohabiting biological father vs. cohabiting social father | 0.028 | 0.097 | 0.231^{**} | 0.670 |
| Cohabiting biological father vs. single mother | 0.017 | -0.028 | 0.007 | 0.905 |
| Married social father vs. cohabiting social father | 0.017 | 0.102 | 0.140 | 0.751 |
| Married social father vs. single mother | 0.005 | -0.023 | -0.083 | 0.986 |
| Cohabiting social father vs. single mother | -0.011 | -0.125*** | -0.223*** | 0.235 |
| *p<.05; **p<.01; ***p<.001 | | | | |

| Table 7. T-Tests: Family Process | sses and Self-Co | ontrol by Gende | er, N=2,678 |
|----------------------------------|---------------------|-------------------|-------------|
| | Female (n=1,265) | Male (n=1,413) | |
| | Mean (S.D.) | Mean (S.D.) | t |
| Maternal monitoring | 0.228 | -0.204 | 4.655 *** |
| Waterhar monitoring | (2.375) | (2.425) | |
| Failure to recognize misbehavior | 0.282 | 0.333 | -2.864** |
| C | (0.448) | (0.468) | |
| Parental explanation | 0.769 | 0.816 | -3.582*** |
| | (0.350) | (0.322) | |
| Parental grounding | 0.604 | 0.679 | -4.895*** |
| | (0.402) | (0.383) | |
| Parental negative verbal | 0.506 | 0.549 | -2.596** |
| i diolital llogative verbal | (0.424) | (0.431) | |
| Parental physical | 0.398 | 0.473 | -4.580*** |
| r ulontui physicui | (0.420) | (0.430) | |
| Parental attachment | 3.550 | 3.475 | 2.936** |
| | (0.626) | (0.705) | |
| Self-control | 1.720 | -1.541 | 6.150*** |
| | (12.883) | (14.390) | |

S.D. = standard deviation

*p<.05; **p<.01; ***p<.001

| L | Table 8. Self-Control Regressed on Household Structure and Family Processes, N=2,678 | Contro | Regressed | on Hous | sehold Struc | ture an | d Family Pr | ocesses, | N=2,678 | | | |
|--|--|--------|----------------|---------|----------------|---------|----------------|----------|----------------|------|----------------|------|
| | Model | Ч | <u>Model 2</u> | 7 | <u>Model 3</u> | 60 | <u>Model 4</u> | | <u>Model 5</u> | | <u>Model 6</u> | 0 |
| | þ | Beta | q | Beta | þ | Beta | þ | Beta | þ | Beta | þ | Beta |
| Age | 2.525* | .046 | 2.374 | 0.34 | 2.547* | .034 | 1.283 | .012 | 1.213 | .022 | 1.296 | .024 |
| Gender (male =1) | -1.686** | 058 | -1.942** | 059 | -1.686** | 059 | -1.387* | 047 | -1.629** | 056 | -1.386* | 048 |
| African American ⁺ | 0.146 | .004 | -0.218 | 030 | 0.120 | 030 | 0.770 | -000 | 0.505 | .015 | 0.756 | .023 |
| Hispanic ⁺ | 3.434*** | .116 | 3.175*** | .066 | 3.415*** | .066 | 3.998*** | .086 | 3.796*** | .129 | 3.984*** | .135 |
| Mother's education | 2.533 | .087 | 2.750*** | 030 | 2.505** | 030 | 2.604*** | 060. | 2.573*** | .095 | 2.581*** | 080. |
| Family poverty | -2.048** | 067 | -2.141** | .066 | -2.101** | .066 | -2.091** | -069 | -2.153** | 071 | -2.127** | 070 |
| Cohabiting biological father ⁺⁺ | -5.025*** | 089 | -4.747*** | 106 | -5.154*** | 106 | -5.661*** | 117 | -5.316*** | 094 | -5.758*** | 102 |
| Married social father ⁺⁺ | -4.991*** | 083 | 1.568 | .026 | -5.727*** | 078 | -3.921** | 059 | 3.805 | .063 | -4.474** | 075 |
| Cohabiting social father ⁺⁺ | -5.411*** | 103 | 1.730 | .033 | -6.101*** | .118 | -3.625** | 080 | 4.594 | .088 | -4.143** | -079 |
| Single mother ⁺⁺ | -3.162*** | 098 | -1.621 | 050 | -3.653*** | 119 | -3.201*** | 118 | -1.942 | 060 | -3.566*** | 111 |
| Biological father contact | 8.139*** | .195 | 8.886*** | .213 | 8.032*** | .208 | 8.725*** | .225 | 9.392*** | .225 | 8.644*** | .207 |
| Biological father exit | | | -3.250** | 107 | | | | | -2.704** | 089 | | |
| Biological father entrance | | | 0.934 | .021 | | | | | 0.444 | .010 | | |
| Social father exit | | | 0.944^{**} | .173 | | | | | 10.519^{**} | .194 | | |
| Social father entrance | | | -5.097 | 145 | | | | | -6.643 | 189 | | |
| Total family transitions | | | | | 0.383 | .027 | | | | | 0.285 | .020 |

| Table 8. | Table 8. Self-Control | | ssed on H | ousehold S | Regressed on Household Structure and Family Processes, N=2,678 (continued) | umily Process | es, N=2, | 678 (continu | (pə | | |
|-------------------------------|-----------------------|------|-----------|------------|--|----------------|----------|----------------|------|----------------|------|
| | <u>Model</u> 1 | 11 | Model 2 | 2 | Model 3 | <u>Model 4</u> | 4 | <u>Model 5</u> | 2 | <u>Model 6</u> | 10 |
| | q | Beta | q | Beta | b Beta | q | Beta | þ | Beta | q | Beta |
| Maternal monitoring | | | | | | 0.527*** | .092 | 0.437** | .071 | 0.526^{***} | .086 |
| Failure to recog. misbehavior | | | | | | 0.428 | .006 | 0.235 | .007 | 0.416 | .012 |
| Parental explanation | | | | | | -0.711 | 016 | -0.395 | 008 | -0.701 | 015 |
| Parental grounding | | | | | | 0.135 | .016 | 0.161 | .005 | 0.130 | .004 |
| Parental negative verbal | | | | | | -5.175*** | 146 | -5.230*** | 159 | -5.151*** | 156 |
| Parental physical | | | | | | 0.188 | 007 | -0.088 | 003 | 0.132 | .004 |
| Parental attachment | | | | | | 2.927*** | .131 | 2.964*** | .128 | 2.924*** | .127 |
| Intercept | -28.822 | 5 | -27.921 | - | -28.924 | -26.027 | | -26.029 | | -26.048 | |
| Adjusted R ² | 0.114 | | 0.127 | | 0.114 | 0.160 | | 0.171 | | 0.160 | |
| b=unstandardized coeff. | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Beta=standardized coeff. | | | | | | | | | | | |
| *p<.05; **p<.01; ***p<.001 | | | | | | | | | | | |
| ⁺ ref=white | | | | | | | | | | | |

++ref=married bio father

| Table 9. Self-Control Regressed on Household Structure and Family Processes, Biological Father Households, n=1,157 | ontrol Regree | ssed on | Household S | Structur | e and Famil | y Proce | sses, Biologi | ical Fatl | ıer Househo | lds, n=1 | 1,157 | |
|--|---------------|---------|----------------|----------|----------------|---------|---------------|-----------|----------------|----------|----------------|------|
| | <u>Model</u> | 1 | <u>Model 2</u> | 7 | <u>Model 3</u> | ŝ | Model 4 | 4 | <u>Model 5</u> | 201 | <u>Model 6</u> | |
| | þ | Beta | q | Beta | q | Beta | q | Beta | þ | Beta | q | Beta |
| Age | 4.257** | .094 | 4.324** | 960. | 4.230** | .093 | 2.597 | .057 | 2.673 | .059 | 2.585 | .057 |
| Gender (male =1) | -1.271 | 055 | -1.357 | 059 | -1.375 | 060 | -0.489 | 021 | -0.605 | 026 | -0.596 | 026 |
| African American ⁺ | -3.883** | 117 | -3.669** | 110 | -3.703** | 111 | -3.937** | 118 | -3.722** | 112 | -3.768** | 113 |
| Hispanic ⁺ | -0.327 | 014 | -0.177 | 008 | -0.317 | 014 | -0.350 | 015 | -0.148 | -007 | -0.322 | 014 |
| Mother's education | -1.837 | -079 | -1.873 | 081 | -1.762 | 076 | -1.825 | -079 | -1.831 | 079 | -1.744 | 075 |
| Family poverty | -2.617* | 096 | -2.514* | 092 | -2.588* | 095 | -2.264* | 083 | -2.189* | 080 | -2.239* | 082 |
| Cohabiting biological father | -5.317*** | 152 | -4.748*** | 136 | -4.996*** | 143 | -5.114*** | 147 | -4.724*** | 135 | -4.885*** | 140 |
| Biological father exit | | | 4.904* | .101 | | | | | 4.437 | .091 | | |
| Biological father entrance | | | -5.234** | 139 | | | | | -4.627* | 122 | | |
| Social father entrance/exit | | | -5.078 | 020 | | | | | -1.353 | 005 | | |
| Total family transitions | | | | | -0.898 | 043 | | | | | -0.758 | 036 |

| Table 9. Self-Control Regressed on | Regressed | _ | hold Stru | cture and] | Household Structure and Family Processes, Biological Father Households, n=1,157 (continued) | Biological | Father H | ouseholds, n | =1,157 (| continued) | |
|------------------------------------|--------------|------|-----------|-------------|---|------------|-------------|--------------|----------|----------------|------|
| | <u>Model</u> | el 1 | Model 2 | <u>el 2</u> | Model 3 | Model 4 | <u>il 4</u> | Model 5 | 5 | <u>Model 6</u> | VOI |
| | q | Beta | q | Beta | b Beta | q | Beta | þ | Beta | q | Beta |
| Maternal monitoring | | | | | · | . 0.380* | .074 | 0.380* | .074 | 0.384^{*} | .075 |
| Failure to recog. misbehavior | | | | | | 1.150 | .042 | 1.093 | .040 | 1.142 | .042 |
| Maternal explanation | | | | | | 1.702 | .041 | 1.704 | .041 | 1.717 | .041 |
| Maternal grounding | | | | | | -0.038 | 002 | -0.072 | 003 | -0.070 | 003 |
| Maternal negative verbal | | | | | | -1.171 | 052 | -1.257 | 056 | -1.196 | 052 |
| Maternal physical | | | | | | -1.201 | 054 | -1.142 | 051 | -1.141 | 051 |
| Maternal attachment | | | | | | 2.247** | .116 | 2.218^{**} | .115 | 2.166^{**} | .112 |
| Paternal explanation | | | | | | -3.232** | 107 | -3.108** | 103 | -3.166** | 150 |
| Paternal grounding | | | | | | 0.895 | .037 | 0.978 | .041 | 0.938 | .039 |
| Paternal negative verbal | | | | | | -2.577** | 115 | -2.687** | 120 | -2.676** | 120 |
| Paternal physical | | | | | | 1.493 | .066 | 1.412 | .062 | 1.502 | .066 |
| Paternal attachment | | | | | | 2.032** | .121 | 1.867^{**} | .111 | 2.009** | .119 |
| Intercept | -31.805 | 05 | -32.278 | 78 | -31.471 | -30.600 | 0 | -30.488 | | -30.070 | |
| Adjusted R ² | 0.058 | 8 | 0.056 | 6 | 0.051 | 0.117 | 7 | 0.120 | | 0.117 | |
| b=unstandardized coeff. | | | | | | | | | | | |

b=unstandardized coeff.

Beta=standardized coeff.

*p<.05; **p<.01; ***p<.001

⁺ref=white

| Table 10. Se | Table 10. Self-Control Regressed on Household Structure and Family Processes, Social Father Households, n=461 | gressed | on Househo | ld Struc | ture and Fa | mily Pr | ocesses, Soci | al Fath | er Househol | ds, n=4 | 61 | |
|-------------------------------|---|---------|----------------|----------|----------------|---------|----------------|---------|----------------|---------|----------------|------|
| | <u>Model</u> | | <u>Model 2</u> | 5 | <u>Model 3</u> | 60 | <u>Model 4</u> | | <u>Model 5</u> | | <u>Model 6</u> | |
| | þ | Beta | þ | Beta | þ | Beta | q | Beta | q | Beta | q | Beta |
| Age | 2.304 | .037 | 1.803 | .029 | 2.430 | .039 | 2.651 | .043 | 2.300 | .037 | 2.569 | .042 |
| Gender (male =1) | -10.771*** | 313 | 313 -10.101*** | 294 | 294 -10.938*** | 318 - | 318 -10.873*** | 316 - | 316 -10.211*** | 297 | 297 -10.863*** | 316 |
| African American ⁺ | 6.769** | .182 | 6.197* | .167 | 7.517** | .202 | 8.460** | .228 | **669.7 | .207 | 8.999*** | .242 |
| Hispanic ⁺ | 3.991 | .110 | 4.315 | .119 | 4.381 | .121 | 5.319* | .146 | 5.602* | .011 | 5.628* | .155 |
| Mother's education | 6.406** | .182 | 6.574** | .186 | 6.187** | .175 | 4.951** | .140 | 4.973** | .414 | 4.861^{**} | .138 |
| Family poverty | -7.187** | 207 | -7.040** | 203 | -7.493*** | 216 | -5.830** | 168 | -5.659** | 163 | -6.099** | 176 |
| Cohabiting social father | 0.353 | .010 | 0.880 | .025 | 0.235 | .007 | -0.056 | 002 | 0.394 | .011 | -0.063 | 002 |
| Biological father contact | 6.720*** | .192 | 7.523*** | .215 | 6.229** | .178 | 8.232*** | .235 | 9.357*** | .267 | 7.845*** | .224 |
| Biological father exit | | | -1.967 | 053 | | | | | -2.462 | 066 | | |
| Biological father entrance | | | 0.458 | 600. | | | | | 0.923 | .018 | | |
| Social father exit | | | 8.737* | .127 | | | | | 9.038* | .131 | | |
| Total family transitions | | | | | 1.983 | .077 | | | | | 1.447 | .056 |

| Table 10. Self-Control Regressed | | Household | Structure a | on Household Structure and Family Processes, Social Father Households, n=461(continued) | sses, Social F | ather Ho | ouseholds, n= | =461(<i>co</i> | ntinued) | |
|----------------------------------|---------|-----------|-------------|---|----------------|----------|---------------|-----------------|----------------|------|
| | Model 1 | Mod | Model 2 | Model 3 | Model 4 | 4 | Model 5 | | <u>Model 6</u> | 0 |
| | b Beta | q i | Beta | b Beta | a b | Beta | þ | Beta | þ | Beta |
| Maternal monitoring | | | | | 0.229 | 039 | 0.456 | 077 | -0.181 | 031 |
| Failure to recog. misbehavior | | | | | -9.320*** | 242 | -9.278*** | 241 | -9.167*** | 238 |
| Parental explanation | | | | | -2.677 | 058 | -2.093 | 045 | -2.963 | 064 |
| Parental grounding | | | | | 0.190 | .004 | -0.211 | 005 | -0.139 | 003 |
| Parental negative verbal | | | | | -5.015* | 117 | -4.885 | 114 | -4.863 | 114 |
| Parental physical | | | | | 5.645* | .109 | 3.973 | .076 | 5.031 | 760. |
| Parental attachment | | | | | 7.189*** | .309 | 7.644*** | .328 | 7.209*** | .310 |
| Intercept | -29.132 | -25.045 | 145 | -33.704 | -51.170 | | -49.366 | | -52.591 | |
| Adjusted R ² | 0.171 | 0.184 | 34 | 0.174 | 0.304 | | 0.318 | | 0.304 | |
| b=unstandardized coeff. | | | | | | | | | | |
| Beta=standardized coeff. | | | | | | | | | | |

*p<.05; **p<.01; ***p<.001

⁺ref=white

| Table 11. Self-Control Regressed on Household Structure and Family Processes, Single-Mother Households, n=1,060 | -Control Regr | o passa. | n Household | l Struct | ure and Fam | iily Pro | cesses, Singl | e-Moth | er Househol | ds, n=1, | 090 | |
|---|---------------|----------|----------------|----------|----------------|-----------|----------------|--------|----------------|----------|----------------|------|
| | Model | | <u>Model 2</u> | 61 | <u>Model 3</u> | 60 | Model 4 | -+1 | <u>Model 5</u> | | <u>Model 6</u> | |
| | q | Beta | q | Beta | þ | Beta | þ | Beta | q | Beta | q | Beta |
| Age | -3.432 | 056 | -3.404 | 055 | -3.269 | 053 | -2.113 | 034 | -1.752 | 028 | -1.740 | 028 |
| Gender (male =1) | 0.409 | .012 | -0.508 | 015 | 0.307 | 600. | -0.784 | 023 | -1.416 | 042 | -0.903 | 027 |
| African American ⁺ | 5.118^{**} | .150 | 3.731* | .110 | 4.961** | .146 | 6.670*** | .196 | 5.900*** | .173 | 6.525*** | .192 |
| Hispanic ⁺ | 11.921*** | .326 | 10.699^{***} | .293 | 11.637*** | .318 | 12.008^{***} | .329 | 11.212*** | .307 | 11.670^{***} | .319 |
| Mother's education | 6.186*** | .182 | 6.864^{***} | .202 | 6.204*** | .183 | 6.237*** | .184 | 6.603*** | .195 | 6.266*** | .185 |
| Family poverty | -1.414 | 041 | -1.408 | 041 | -1.643 | 048 | -1.983 | 058 | -2.020 | 059 | -2.286 | 067 |
| Biological father contact | 8.136*** | .219 | 8671*** | .233 | 7.859*** | .211 | 8.204*** | .221 | 8.473*** | .228 | 7.779*** | .209 |
| Biological father exit | | | -3.680* | 095 | | | | | -1.696 | 044 | | |
| Biological father entrance | | | 3.443 | .069 | | | | | 1.664 | .034 | | |
| Social father exit | | | 3.322* | .084 | | | | | 3.551* | 060. | | |
| Total family transitions | | | | | 0.745 | .043 | | | | | 1.133 | .065 |

| Table 11. Self-Control Regressed | l Regressed on | House | hold Stru | icture and | Family Pr | .ocesses, | Single-Mot | ther Ho | on Household Structure and Family Processes, Single-Mother Households, n=1,060 (continued) | 1,060 (a | continued) | |
|----------------------------------|----------------|-------|-----------|------------|-----------|-----------|---------------|---------|--|----------|----------------|------|
| | Model 1 | | Model 2 | 5 | Model 3 | ω | Model 4 | | Model 5 | | <u>Model 6</u> | |
| | b I | Beta | q | Beta | þ | Beta | þ | Beta | q | Beta | þ | Beta |
| Maternal monitoring | | | | | | | 1.066^{***} | .143 | 0.980^{***} | .131 | 1.074^{***} | .144 |
| Failure to recog. misbehavior | | | | | | | 4.768** | .125 | 4.347** | .114 | 4.653** | .122 |
| Parental explanation | | | | | | | 3.901 | .070 | 4.134* | .074 | 4.272* | .077 |
| Parental grounding | | | | | | | 0.039 | .001 | 0.256 | 900. | 0.019 | 000. |
| Parental negative verbal | | | | | | | -5.027** | 127 | -4.843** | 123 | -5.060** | 128 |
| Parental physical | | | | | | | -3.715* | 095 | -4.089** | 104 | -4.013** | 102 |
| Parental attachment | | | | | | | 0.237 | 600. | 0.193 | .007 | 0.046 | .002 |
| Intercept | 14.398 | | 16.379 | _ | 12.402 | | 1.221 | | -1.303 | | -2.501 | |
| Adjusted R ² | 0.132 | | 0.144 | | 0.133 | | 0.190 | | 0.196 | | 0.193 | |
| b=unstandardized coeff. | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Beta=standardized coeff | | | | | | | | | | | | |

Beta=standardized coeff.

*p<.05; **p<.01; ***p<.001

⁺ref=white